# DISTURBANCE, VEGETATION CO-OCCURRENCE, AND HUMAN INTERVENTION AS DRIVERS OF PLANT SPECIES DISTRIBUTIONS IN THE

### SAGEBRUSH STEPPE

by

Fiona Claire Schaus Noonan



A thesis

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geoscience Boise State University

August 2022

© 2022

Fiona Claire Schaus Noonan

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

## BOISE STATE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE COLLEGE

# DEFENSE COMMITTEE AND FINAL READING APPROVALS

of the thesis submitted by

Fiona Claire Schaus Noonan

Thesis Title: Disturbance, Vegetation Co-Occurrence, and Human Intervention as

Drivers of Plant Species Distributions in the Sagebrush Steppe

Date of Final Oral Examination: 02 June 2022

The following individuals read and discussed the thesis submitted by student Fiona Noonan, and they evaluated the student's presentation and response to questions during the final oral examination. They found that the student passed the final oral examination.

Megan E. Cattau, Ph.D.	Chair, Supervisory Committee
Brittany D. Brand, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
Jodi S. Brandt, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
T. Trevor Caughlin, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee

The final reading approval of the thesis was granted by Megan E. Cattau, Ph.D., Chair of the Supervisory Committee. The thesis was approved by the Graduate College.

# DEDICATION

To the people and places who have taught me—and continue to teach me—what it means to mālama 'āina.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to all of the people (and places) who have shepherded me through the churning phase that is science, and toward the frothing stage of putting a bit of new knowledge out into the world. Most of all, gratitude to my advisor, Megan Cattau, who has traversed a wild couple of years with an inspiring level of grace. And to the rest of the Cattau Lab—Meg Dolman, Tao Huang, Anna Roser, and Peter Olsoy—for your kindness, wisdom, and good humor. Much appreciation as well to the rest of my committee, Trevor Caughlin, Jodi Brandt, and Brittany Brand. Trevor, in particular, worked with me through a sea of modeling questions and confusions. Thank you for your patience, and for making me a better scientist along the way. Matt Williamson, Alison Simler-Williamson, and Juanmi Requena-Mullor also offered critical conceptual and statistical insights, and Kyle Shannon provided immense computational support. I am incredibly appreciative of the other HES and Geosciences faculty and peers I had supporting me, too. Shouts out to Jamie Faselt, Tara Pozzi, Maggie Holahan, Kate Sweet, Emma McCully, and Sarah Halperin for helping me (mostly) hold it all together. Despite challenging academic conditions during the pandemic, I feel very lucky to have had people around me to answer endless questions, stoke new ideas, and keep me on track.

Throughout this degree, I've also been fortunate to learn about and participate in actionable and co-produced science, both within the Cattau Lab and through a Northwest Climate Adaptation Science Center Fellowship. I've learned so much from the NW CASC Fellowship and Seminar under Meade Krosby's guidance. I am also grateful to the folks at the BLM (Don Major, Anne Halford, Molly Cross, Michele Crist, Paul Makela, and Steve Jirik) and the USGS (Doug Shinneman) who have been generous with their time and ideas, and have made me a more collaborative scientist. This research was funded by a U.S. Geological Survey Northwest Climate Adaptation Science Center award G17AC000218 to Fiona Noonan, and was also supported by the NSF Idaho EPSCoR program Genes by Environment: Modeling, Mechanisms, Mapping.

Finally, I am grateful to my family—Mom, Dad, Aidan, and the Boise Schaus crew—for their support, as well as for a commitment to education and curiosity passed through generations. I would have also been fully lost without the non-BSU friends who have grounded me since August 2020 in Idaho and beyond. There are more than I can name, but I am particularly grateful for ELIE buddies, Mitch Cutter, Melanie Langa, Emily Goldfield, Sarah Brickman, Lauren Brown, Alexandra van Alebeek, Stephanie Coates, Luca Guadagno, Josh Lappen, Riya Mehta, Daela Taeoalii-Tipton, Jon Williams, Elizabeth Hill, Chris Manning, Zach Fogel, Rebekah Ratcliff, Emma Ronai-Durning, Nicole Lex, Milena Johnson, Hannah Black, and the Nut House. Y'all rock.

### ABSTRACT

Changes in fire regimes, invasive species dynamics, human land use, and drought conditions have shifted important plant species in the Northern Great Basin (NGB)including big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata ssp.), conifers (e.g., Juniperus spp.) and invasive annual grasses (e.g., Bromus tectorum). Characterizing how these overlapping disturbances influence species distributions is critical for land management decisionmaking. Previous research has explored the individual effects of drought, wildfire, restoration, and invasive species on sagebrush steppe communities, but the specific effects of these disturbances in context with one another remain poorly understood at a landscape scale. To address this gap, I constructed multilevel conditional autoregressive (CAR) species distribution models (SDMs) to map the distributions of big sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass on lands managed for grazing in the NGB, both with and without a history of fire. These models illuminate the concurrent influences of species co-occurrences, drought, wildfire characteristics (e.g., fire size, time since fire, and number of fires), and restoration treatments. For all SDMs, results indicate that species co-occurrence exhibits the strongest effect-between 1.23 and 19.2 times greater than the next strongest predictor-on all species' probability of occurrence, suggesting that vegetation co-occurrence meaningfully influences landscape-scale species distributions. In portions of the NGB both with and without historical fire, number of fires and maximum vapor pressure deficit (VPD) also exert substantial influence on the likelihood of species presence, and results indicate that restoration treatments have broadly met desired outcomes for both sagebrush and juniper.

Narrowing down to only areas that have previously burned, however, models do not support the efficacy of post-fire restoration. All versions of the SDMs, which rely on Bureau of Land Management-administered grazing allotments as a spatial varying intercept, also explicitly point to the differential influence of long-term management regimes on species distributions. These model predictions capture post-disturbance vegetation outcomes under changing fire, climate, and invasive species regimes and in the context of human decision-making, in turn defining a plausible ecological space as these disturbance and management processes play out into the future.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiv	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
ABSTRACTvii	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF MAPSxv	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
INTRODUCTION1	
Positionality Statement1	
Background1	
Invasive Annual Grasses4	
Conifer Expansion5	
Wildfire	
Climate Change9	
Management and Restoration10	
Objectives and Relevance12	
METHODS14	
Study Area14	
Northern Great Basin14	

Data Se	election	16
	Species Occurrence Data	16
	Biotic Predictor Variables	19
	Climate and Topographic Data	20
	Wildfire Covariates	21
	Land Treatment Digital Library	22
Species	s Distribution Modeling	22
	Model Implementation	23
	Model Validation	26
	Model Interpretation	28
	Model Predictions	28
RESULTS		31
Conditi	ional Autoregressive Models for All NGB Grazing Allotments	31
	Sagebrush Model	31
	Juniper Model	32
	Spatial Autocorrelation	35
Fire-Or	nly Models	36
	Fire-Only Sagebrush Model	36
Fire-Or	nly Juniper Model	38
	Fire-Only Cheatgrass Model	39
	Spatial Autocorrelation for Fire-Only Models	39
DISCUSSION		41
Implica	tions and Applications	41

The role of species co-occurrence	42
Specific influences of fire on species distributions	44
Effects of maximum vapor pressure deficit	46
Restoration treatment efficacy	47
Spatial dependencies across grazing allotments	49
Limitations	51
Future Directions	55
CONCLUSIONS	58
REFERENCES	60
APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX B	94

# LIST OF TABLES

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Conceptual framework for the social-ecological underpinnings of and feedbacks captured by sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass SDMs in the NGB
Figure 2.	Conceptual diagram of workflow for CAR model implementation. Orange highlight around "Grazing Allotments" indicates its use as the areal unit implemented as a spatial varying intercept. <i>N.B.</i> Fire size and time since fire were just included in fire-only versions of all SDMs. Diagram created using BioRender.com
Figure 3.	Conceptual diagram of raster-based model prediction process
Figure 4.	Combined effect size plot for all three SDMs across all NGB grazing allotments. Lines crossing zero indicates that the 95% CI contains 0. Dots indicate median effect size based on regression coefficients. Cheatgrass Model
Figure 5.	Density plots comparing rho value distributions for sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass. Higher rho value indicates greater spatial dependency of species presence across grazing allotments
Figure 6.	Combined effect size plot for all three SDMs in previously burned grazing allotments in the NGB. Lines crossing zero indicates that the 95% CI contains 0. Dots indicate median effect size based on regression coefficients
Figure A.1.1.	Historical trend of maximum fire size in the NGB. The biggest fires have gotten bigger since the early 20 <sup>th</sup> century, indicating that extreme fires are becoming increasingly extreme
Figure A.1.1.	Historical trend of mean fire size in the NGB. Average fire size has increased in the NGB since the start of the 20 <sup>th</sup> century
Figure A.2.1.	Number of species presence points collected by year in the NGB between 1974 (the first year of LFRDB point collection in the NGB) to 2009 (the most recent collection year in the NGB for species of interest)

Figure A.2.2.	Number of historical fires that occurred at each species presence point between 1912 and 2009 in the NGB
Figure A.2.3.	Proportion of each species presence points that experienced at least one fire prior to LFRDB observation
Figure A.3.1.	Individual presence point values and group means for elevation (in meters) and site exposure for sagebrush and juniper, respectively broken into subspecies and species
Figure A.3.2.	Individual presence point values and group means for elevation (in meters) and site exposure for sagebrush and juniper
Figure A.3.3.	Group elevation means and standard errors for all sagebrush subspecies and juniper species points in the NGB
Figure A.3.4.	Group site exposure index means and standard errors for all sagebrush subspecies and juniper species points in the NGB
Figure A.4.	Counterfactual plots for the effects of each covariate on sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass. Clockwise from top left: juniper co-occurrence, number of fires, maximum VPD, site exposure, restoration treatment, cheatgrass co-occurrence, and sagebrush co-occurrence. <i>N.B.</i> Not all predictor variables had interpretable effects in all models (see Results) 92
Figure A.5.	Density plots of rho values from the posterior of the fire-only CAR SDM for each species of interest. Rho values account for spatial dependency, with higher values indicating more spatial dependency of species across neighboring allotments

# LIST OF MAPS

Map 1.	BLM-allocated grazing allotments in the study area, the Northern Great Basin, in the context of BLM-managed lands. Black outline indicates the boundary of the Northern Basin & Range Level III Ecoregion. N.B. Not all grazing allotments are fully within BLM (public) lands; some extend across multiple management jurisdictions. (Data: EPA, BLM, US Census Bureau). 15
Map 2.	Map of both merged datasets in the NGB with an overlay of the LF 2016 Remap LFRDB data for comparison. All points in this map were incorporated in species distribution modeling as presence or absence points. 17
Map 3.	Map of presence points for sagebrush, cheatgrass, and juniper in the NGB, collected between 1974 and 2009. Data: EPA, LFRDB, US Census Bureau, Stamen. 18
Map 4	Spatial predictions for sagebrush (a), cheatgrass (b), and juniper (c) CAR SDMs in historically burned and unburned NGB grazing allotments. Data: US Census Bureau, US EPA, USGS, BLM, NLCD, PRISM, SRTM, LFRDB. 35
Map 5.	Spatial predictions for sagebrush (a), cheatgrass (b), and juniper (c) fire- only SDMs in previously burned NGB grazing allotments. Data: US Census Bureau, US EPA, USGS, BLM, NLCD, PRISM, SRTM, LFRDB. 40
<ul> <li>Map A.1.1. Network of neighboring grazing allotments used to determine values for adjacency matrix in full CAR models (for burned and unburned areas).</li> <li>Spatial network construction relied on the R packages "sdpep" (Bivand &amp; Wong, 2018), "igraph" (Csardi &amp; Nepusz, 2006), and "spatialreg" (Bivand et al., 2013).</li> </ul>	
Map A.1.2.	Network of neighboring grazing allotments used to determine values for adjacency matrix in fire-only CAR models. Spatial network construction relied on the R packages "sdpep" (Bivand & Wong, 2018), "igraph" (Csardi & Nepusz, 2006), and "spatialreg" (Bivand et al., 2013). 91

Map B.1.1.	Figure B.1.3. Species presence and absence points for full sagebrush CA model in the context of all NGB historical wildfires between 1912 and 2009. Orange polygons indicate wildfire boundaries. Data: EPA, USGS, LFRDB, Stamen.	R 95
Map B.1.2.	Species presence and absence points for full juniper CAR model in the context of all NGB historical wildfires between 1912 and 2009. Orange polygons indicate wildfire boundaries. Data: EPA, USGS, LFRDB, Stamen.	95
Map B.1.3.	Species presence and absence points for full cheatgrass CAR model in th context of all NGB historical wildfires between 1912 and 2009. Orange polygons indicate wildfire boundaries. Data: EPA, USGS, LFRDB, Stamen.	1e 96
Map B.2.1.	Species presence and absence points for full sagebrush CAR model in th context of restoration treatments conducted in the NGB prior to 2009. Purple polygons indicate restoration areas. Data: EPA, LTDL, LFRDB, Stamen.	le 97
Map B.2.2.	Species presence and absence points for full juniper CAR model in the context of all restoration treatments conducted in the NGB prior to 2009 Purple polygons indicate restoration areas. Data: EPA, LTDL, LFRDB, Stamen.	97
Map B.2.3.	Species presence and absence points for cheatgrass CAR model in the context of all restoration treatments conducted in the NGB prior to 2009 Purple polygons indicate restoration areas. Data: EPA, LTDL, LFRDB, Stamen.	98

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AIM	Assessment, Inventory, and Monitoring
BLM	Bureau of Land Management
CAR	Conditional autoregressive
DOI	United States Department of the Interior
EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
ESR	Emergency Stabilization and Rehabilitation
GLMM	Generalized linear mixed model
HES	Human-Environment Systems
JSDM	Joint species distribution model
LANDFIRE	Landscape Fire and Resource Management Planning Tools
LFRDB	LANDFIRE Reference Database
LTDL	Land Treatment Digital Library
NGB	Northern Great Basin
NLCD	National Land Cover Database
PRISM	Parameter-elevation Regressions on Independent Slopes Model
RCMAP	Rangeland Condition Monitoring Assessment and Projection
SDM	Species distribution model
SES	Social-ecological systems
TerrADat	Terrestrial AIM Database
USFS	United States Forest Service

USGS United States Geological Survey

VPD Vapor pressure deficit

#### INTRODUCTION

#### **Positionality Statement**

By necessity, all science carries with it a lens or paradigm that shapes the questions, data, interpretations, and conclusions of the work in complex, multifaceted ways (Scotland, 2012; Secules et al., 2021). My research on plant species distributions in the NGB is no different, and is strongly informed by a background in private land protection and management in the inland Northwest. I come to this work with a distinctly Western lens, but one that also places primacy on systems thinking, social-ecological interactions, and a belief that people can, have, and should steward the land.

#### Background

Artemisia tridentata ssp., or big sagebrush (hereafter, sagebrush), is a foundation plant species throughout the Great Basin that has undergone substantial, ongoing decline in abundance and area of distribution due to development, grazing, shifting fire regimes, climate change, woody plant encroachment, and invasive species (Balch et al., 2013; Bradley, 2010; Coates et al., 2017; Davies et al., 2021; Falkowski et al., 2017; Prevéy et al., 2010). It now occupies just 56% of its historical range, leaving the remaining sagebrush highly fragmented and less able to support the wildlife and soils that have made sagebrush. so vital to the landscapes of the American West (Davies & Bates, 2020; Meinke et al., 2009). Although a multitude of known disturbances—including climate change, wildfire, grazing, and human land-use—influence the composition and configuration of sagebrush landscapes, the drivers and outcomes of simultaneously shifting vegetation, climate, and fire regimes remain especially unclear (M. L. Brooks et al., 2015; Copeland et al., 2021; Requena-Mullor et al., 2019). In this research, I examine these simultaneous dynamics in the context of the Northern Great Basin (NGB), a portion of the Great Basin ecoregion covering southeastern Oregon, southern Idaho, and parts of northern Utah, Nevada, and California (Map 1).

Fundamentally, sagebrush ecosystems respond to disturbances, including wildfire and drought, both of which are exacerbated by climate change, based on their capacity for resilience or resistance, which varies based on subspecies and life histories (Chambers et al., 2019). Chambers, Miller, et al. (2014) define resilience as "the capacity of an ecosystem to *regain* its fundamental structure, processes, and functioning when altered by stressors like drought and disturbances like...altered fire regimes" (emphasis theirs). They define resistance as "the capacity of an ecosystem to *retain* its fundamental structure, processes, and functioning despite stresses, disturbances, or invasive species" (Chambers, Miller, et al., 2014; emphasis theirs). Big sagebrush subspecies, for example, have adapted to a historically low-severity fire regime which they have minimal capacity to resist, but to which they are ultimately resilient. As fire regimes and other disturbances change, species and ecosystems may not have adequate resistance and resilience capacity, which may induce state transitions (Chambers, Miller, et al., 2014; Ellsworth et al., 2016; Johnstone et al., 2016).

In addition to resistance and resilience, understanding landscape-scale disturbance ecology processes relies on accounting for ecological memory, or "the degree to which an ecological process is shaped by its past modifications of a landscape" (Peterson, 2002). This phenomenon guides how ecosystems respond to disturbances, and encompasses the informational—long-term—and material—physical abiotic and biotic responses to disturbance events—legacies of landscape processes and patterns on the current state of a landscape's function (Johnstone et al., 2016; Newman et al., 2019). These legacy effects are particularly relevant in post-fire vegetation recovery and dynamics, as well as in vegetation-fire cycles (Peterson, 2002; *sensu* Pickett et al., 2009; van Mantgem et al., 2018). Informational legacies may confer ecosystem resilience; conversely, changing disturbance regimes can degrade ecological memory, triggering potential shifts in landscape pattern, process, and function (Johnstone et al., 2016). More generally, ecological memory relies on the idea that species have adapted to a particular set of disturbance regimes, and these past disturbances will dictate how species respond to current and future disturbances. The ability for NGB sagebrush systems to regain and/or retain their structure and function dictates abundance and distributions of species under shifting disturbance regimes, which may include novel disturbances, novel disturbance interactions, or disturbance characteristics outside of the historical range of variability.

The NGB—here defined as the Northern Basin and Range EPA Level III Ecoregion—comprises plant functional groups typical of the entire Great Basin. Sagebrush shrublands and sagebrush steppe dominate the region, including plant species such as big sagebrush, Western juniper, Utah juniper, Rocky Mountain juniper, and various other conifers (*e.g., Pinus monophylla, Pinus ponderosa*) at higher elevations (R. F. Miller et al., 2008). Grasslands, which historically have contained native bunchgrasses but are increasingly dominated by annual invasive grasses (*e.g., Bromus tectorum, Taeniatherum caput-medusae [L.] Nevski*) characterize the NGB at some lower elevations (Pilliod et al., 2017). These plant functional groups have distinct dynamics with one another and varied responses to abiotic disturbances such as climate change and wildfire. While these species do not represent the NGB's full range of biotic diversity, they do collectively and individually represent key management challenges across the region that this research seeks to redress.

### Invasive Annual Grasses

The first of these challenges is species invasions, and particularly the influx of cheatgrass-among other invasive annual grasses-into arid and semiarid ecosystems since its introduction alongside cattle and sheep grazing in the West in the mid-late 19<sup>th</sup> century (D'Antonio & Vitousek, 1992; Novak & Mack, 2001). Bromus tectorum (hereafter, cheatgrass) currently occupies nearly a third of the Great Basin (210,000km<sup>2</sup>), and outcompetes other native forbs, grasses, and shrubs through earlier germination, greater seed production, and faster growth (Bradley et al., 2018; Pilliod et al., 2017). This adds fine, arid fuels to otherwise more fuel-limited systems (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016; M. L. Brooks et al., 2004; Pilliod et al., 2017). At the same time, cheatgrass also exhibits more resilience to fire than native species, with a far greater ability to re-establish post-fire than many native species, especially at lower elevations (Chambers, Miller, et al., 2014; Reisner et al., 2013). This positive feedback induces an invasive grass-fire cycle that has been explored at length in the Great Basin ecoregion (Balch et al., 2013; Bradley et al., 2018; M. L. Brooks et al., 2004; D'Antonio & Vitousek, 1992). Successful cheatgrass invasions occur particularly in years with higher than average winter precipitation, and are often exacerbated by human land-use activities, including grazing and development (Chambers, Bradley, et al., 2014; Pilliod et al., 2017). Cheatgrass also thrives in hotter, drier regions, both of which contribute to the grass-fire cycle and displacement of sagebrush species,

which are far less resilient to fires in the short term (Chambers, Miller, et al., 2014; Ellsworth et al., 2016; Pilliod et al., 2017).

### Conifer Expansion

The second of these challenges is conifer expansion, which primarily includes Western juniper (*Juniperus occidentalis*) in southeastern Oregon and Rocky Mountain (*Juniperus scopulorum*) and Utah juniper (*Juniperus osteosperma;* hereafter, collectively referred to as "juniper") in southern Idaho, northern Nevada, and northeastern Utah. Juniper species often exist in association with pinyon pine (*e.g., Pinus edulis, Pinus monophylla*), particularly in the more southern and eastern portions of the NGB, as well as further south in the Great Basin (Romme et al., 2009). This expansion, often characterized as encroachment by both researchers and managers, results in reduced productivity and diversity, as well as increased soil erosion and resource competition that can displace sagebrush and other associated species, including the imperiled greater sage-grouse (*Centrocercus urophasianus*; Bates et al., 2005; Coates et al., 2017; Olsen et al., 2021; C. J. Williams et al., 2014). There is also evidence that juniper removal may increase opportunities for cheatgrass invasion (Coultrap et al., 2008).

Unlike cheatgrass, juniper species are native to the NGB, but the abundance and density of juniper and pinyon pine have increased substantially due to fire suppression and livestock grazing since settlers began colonizing the Great Basin in the mid-19<sup>th</sup> century (R. F. Miller & Rose, 1999; Shinneman & Baker, 2009b). In the central and northern parts of the Great Basin, studies indicate that pinyon and juniper have increased between 125 and 625% since the 1860s, largely through infilling and ecotonal shifts (R. F. Miller et al., 2008, 2014; Weisberg et al., 2007). Pinyon-juniper is also the third-largest vegetation type

in the US, covering 40 million hectares (Filippelli et al., 2020). As a result, decades of land management and research in the Great Basin have focused on limiting or even eliminating juniper (*e.g.*, Bates et al., 2005; Fick et al., 2022; R. F. Miller et al., 2014; Olsen et al., 2021), despite their being native to the region, having cultural and ecological significance, and the fact that they are sharply declining in some areas due to persistent modern drought conditions (Filippelli et al., 2020).

Studies of pinyon-juniper in the Great Basin have largely focused on rangeland management concerns, generally explicating the behavior of pinyon-juniper woodlands as a form of biotic disturbance itself, and often at relatively small scales (J. E. D. Miller & Safford, 2020). Rarely, though, does the literature address landscape-scale patterns of conifer responses to fire without the subtext of woodland eradication, nor do studies often examine the long-term legacies of disturbance on pinyon-juniper vegetation dynamics (Baker & Shinneman, 2004; Shinneman & Baker, 2009b) and ecological memory (*sensu* Johnstone et al., 2016; Pickett et al., 2009). While Miller and Safford (2020) explicitly suggest that plant responses to wildfire depend on adaptations to historical fire regimes (*i.e.*, informational legacies; *sensu* Johnstone et al., 2016) the effects of specific fire attributes on pinyon-juniper woodlands remain understudied at landscape scales.

### Wildfire

The third major management challenge, which builds from the first two, is wildfire. Fire has always characterized the NGB, contributing to the heterogeneity, regulation, and regeneration of the ecosystem's various landscapes through pyrodiversity (*e.g.*, McLauchlan et al., 2020), which can itself spur biodiversity (see Jones & Tingley, 2022). Indigenous populations also shaped historical fire regimes in the Great Basin through land use and cultural burning, contributing to a fire regime of frequent low-severity fires (Carter et al., 2021). On a global scale, it is becoming increasingly clear that interactions among fire and anthropogenic drivers like climate change, land use, and invasive species are shifting both fire regimes and biodiversity toward greater extremes and, in some cases, homogeneity (Kelly et al., 2020).

Recent studies indicate that fire severity, frequency, anthropogenic ignitions, and size, in addition to fine fuels and aridity, have all increased across the American West due to climate change and land use (Abatzoglou et al., 2019; Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016; Balch et al., 2017; M. L. Brooks et al., 2015; Cattau et al., 2020; Dennison et al., 2014). Fire seasonality, including timing and length of fire season, have also changed in the past several decades (M. L. Brooks et al., 2015; Westerling et al., 2006). In other words, not only are average fire attributes experiencing increases, but the most extreme attributes of fires are also becoming more extreme, largely as the result of interacting biophysical and social factors (Balch et al., 2020). These pattern changes have borne successional consequences for the sagebrush biome, which is not adapted to the more frequent, higher-intensity fires that increasingly characterize the NGB's fire regime (Brooks et al., 2015; Ellsworth et al., 2020; Mahood & Balch, 2019).

This holds true in the NGB, where the invasive annual grass-fire cycle is a wellknown threat, especially in sagebrush-dominated areas (Coates et al., 2016; D'Antonio & Vitousek, 1992; Shinneman & Baker, 2009a). Recently, researchers have suggested that the "human-grass-fire cycle" more accurately captures the role of anthropogenic influences on how invasive grasses alter fire regimes (Fusco et al., 2021). The threats posed by this cycle have been exacerbated by climate change, which has in turn increased fire occurrence, frequency, ignitions, and season lengths in the NGB (Balch et al., 2013; Bradley et al., 2018; M. L. Brooks et al., 2004; Fusco et al., 2019). Meanwhile, a combination of historical grazing, fire suppression, and climate change has driven decades of conifer expansion (Falkowski et al., 2017; Romme et al., 2009). This not only reduced biodiversity, but has also increased canopy biomass, resulting in in larger, more intense fires than those that historically characterized sagebrush steppe (R. F. Miller & Tausch, 2002; C. J. Williams et al., 2014). Conifer woodlands exhibit slow post-fire recovery, often on the order of decades, and this is particularly true in the wake of severe wildfires (Baker & Shinneman, 2004). Fire return interval approximations for pinyon-juniper woodlands range from 50 to 200 years, although there is evidence that increasing invasions of annual grasses, such as cheatgrass, may simultaneously alter fire frequency in pinyon-juniper and other Great Basin plant functional groups (Balch et al., 2013).

Meanwhile, fire regimes themselves are changing in response to human influences (*e.g.* human ignitions, land use; Balch et al., 2017; Cattau et al., 2020), vegetation dynamics (Balch et al., 2013) and climate change (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016), creating a set of interwoven fire-vegetation-climate feedbacks (Figure 1) whose impacts are difficult to predict yet critical for managers to understand (McLauchlan et al., 2020).

Previous studies have generally addressed only single-species components of these fire-vegetation-climate dynamics, such as the respective relationships between wildfire and sagebrush, pinyon-juniper, and cheatgrass. Spatially-explicit, management-oriented data on these species' interactions with each other, and with fire, remain sparse. Further, most studies on vegetation responses to wildfire have been conducted on the scale of a single fire, rather than at a regional level that might have broader management implications (J. E. D. Miller & Safford, 2020).

### Climate Change

Climate projections for the NGB depict a future that has hotter temperatures, more precipitation, and much greater variability in precipitation timing While climate change underlies the dynamics in each of the preceding interlinked challenges in the NGB, it also directly impacts sagebrush steppe ecosystems. In the Great Basin, increased atmospheric warming may induce particular adaptive mismatches for those subspecies that occupy basin sub-regions (e.g., A. tridentata ssp. wyomingensis), survive at higher elevations (e.g., A. tridentata ssp. vaseyana), or are better suited for either more xeric or more mesic conditions (Brabec et al., 2017; Kleinhesselink & Adler, 2018; Schlaepfer et al., 2012; Still & Richardson, 2015). Some studies suggest that sagebrush in cooler, wetter areas may actually be more resilient to the impacts of climate change since they respond positively to increased warming, while the inverse is true for sagebrush in warmer, drier areas (Rigge et al., 2019). Meanwhile, the impacts of climate change are projected to benefit cheatgrass, with populations expected to either remain steady or expand their land area in the NGB by as much as 18% (Boyte et al., 2016; Zimmer et al., 2020). Most studies agree that juniper (and the pinyon-juniper association more broadly) will face declines under climate change, particularly in the NGB (Zimmer et al., 2020).

Here, I use maximum vapor pressure deficit (VPD) as the primary predictor related to climate, which represents the conditions of greatest aridity in a given location and serves as a proxy for drought. Increased warming has directly increased VPD, and will continue to do so under climate change (A. P. Williams et al., 2019). In turn, this propels each of the aforementioned cycles of increased wildfire, cheatgrass invasion, and plant stress.

### Management and Restoration

Collectively, the interlinked, climate-exacerbated challenges of species invasions, conifer expansion, and wildfire point to a broader ecological possibility: the diminution or possible displacement of big sagebrush and associated shrubs, forbs, and bunchgrasses. (Bowman-Prideaux et al., 2021; M. L. Brooks et al., 2015; Davies et al., 2021; Davies & Bates, 2017). This interplay among ecosystem disturbances and broader vegetation dynamics requires management responses, including restoration actions, in the face of increasing climatic uncertainty. In the NGB, management decision-making falls primarily to the Bureau of Land Management (BLM), which manages 63.6% of the total land mass of the ecoregion. This includes the state-level BLM administration of grazing allotments that account for an even greater proportion—roughly 74%—of the NGB. The BLM leases these allotments to private individuals for grazing livestock such as cattle and sheep at relatively low costs and with management plans overseen by the agency, a system that dates back to the federal 1934 Taylor Grazing Act (Wilkinson, 1992).

Management actions in sagebrush systems can alter species' resilience to disturbance and ability to withstand biotic invasions, contingent on historical community composition and disturbance regimes (Chambers, Miller, et al., 2014). Certain restoration treatments, particularly of expanding pinyon-juniper woodlands, have exhibited success, mostly at site-specific scales (*e.g.*, Freund et al., 2021). However, regional-scale management requires a better understanding of how concurrent shifts in biotic and abiotic disturbances influence common rangeland species distributions at the scale of the NGB.

Specifying distributional responses to disturbance regimes is a critical step toward more effective conservation-decision making as climate change-induced fire activity expansion continues to accelerate (Abatzoglou et al., 2021).



Figure 1. Conceptual framework for the social-ecological underpinnings of and feedbacks captured by sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass SDMs in the NGB.

Although historical disturbance regimes tend to dictate species' responses to wildfires in the present (Johnstone et al., 2016; J. E. D. Miller & Safford, 2020; Stevens et al., 2020), little is known about how recent changes in fire regimes influence shrubland vegetation dynamics. Many models implicitly assume that species respond to disturbances in isolation, rather than capturing the ways in which species jointly respond to shifting disturbance regimes based on their interactions with one another (Pollock et al., 2014). Here, I address these gaps by exploring how wildfire, vegetation co-occurrence, and restoration activities influence the distributions of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass in the NGB. Clarifying disturbance-distribution dynamics for these three important sagebrush ecosystem species, particularly with the inclusion of anthropogenic factors like wildfire

and restoration, can highlight the outcomes of the disturbance-management interface at a landscape scale. In turn, these results point to considerations for sagebrush steppe management decisions, particularly as climate change continues to alter disturbance regimes.

This work additionally addresses the issue of spatial autocorrelation—a lack of independence across spatially proximate points or features—, to which species distribution models (SDMs) are inherently sensitive (Beguin et al., 2012). To do so, I used multilevel Bayesian conditional autoregressive (CAR) models with NGB grazing allotments as the spatial unit. While examples of using a multilevel CAR model implementation exist in fields such as epidemiology (*e.g.*, Bivand et al., 2017; Djeudeu et al., 2022), this appears to be the first implementation of the multilevel areal unit approach in an ecological context. The use of grazing allotments, which are a management-relevant areal unit, offers more useful management insights as compared to an arbitrary spatial unit, such as a grid.

#### **Objectives and Relevance**

Given the context of wildfires, vegetation co-occurrences and interactions, climate, and restoration in grazing allotments in the NGB, my research aims to answer the question: *How do vegetation co-occurrence, wildfire histories, and human interventions influence the distributions of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass in the NGB*? In the context of previously burned areas, I also address the question: *How do wildfire characteristics such as size, frequency, and time since fire influence plant species distributions in the NGB in the context of other abiotic and biotic drivers*? Within these two questions, I have three main objectives:

- Capture the relative effects of wildfire, restoration, and vegetation cooccurrences—which may represent biological invasions—as well as climate and topography, on sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass distributions.
- 2. Delineate spatially-explicit predicted distributions of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass.
- Identify areas of management success and/or concern based on the outcomes of wildfire-restoration-species invasion dynamics across grazing allotments, while also clarifying the role of allotments themselves in determining species occurrence.

This research serves to clarify the recent ecological past of the NGB and illuminate plausible ecological futures in sagebrush ecosystems. My results are particularly relevant to public land managers seeking to address complex fire-vegetation-climate dynamics in the NGB.

#### METHODS

To meet the above objectives, I constructed multilevel Bayesian conditional autoregressive (CAR) SDMs to predict the distributions of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass as a function of wildfire, climate, restoration, topography, and species co-occurrences in NGB grazing allotments. These models, constructed and analyzed in the R environment (R Core Team, 2021), build on previous research that examines the roles of fire and management in sagebrush distributions (Requena-Mullor et al., 2019). The models also pull from the insights of prior work that has examined the effects of species co-occurrence on species distributions (*e.g.*, Mod et al., 2020; O'Reilly-Nugent et al., 2020; Pollock et al., 2014).

#### **Study Area**

#### Northern Great Basin

The Great Basin, which spans the arid portions of the Western U.S. between the Sierra Nevada and the Rocky Mountains, comprises roughly half of the historical sagebrush biome in North America (Requena-Mullor et al., 2019). This location and composition make the Great Basin an appropriate area for studying the effects of fire and vegetation dynamics on sagebrush ecosystems in a variety of topographic contexts. Although the Great Basin has numerous hydrographic, ecological, and cultural definitions, I selected the Northern Basin and Range EPA Level III Ecoregion (referred to here as the NGB) for my study area based on discussions with Bureau of Land Management (BLM) personnel, many

of whom frequently work with these ecoregional boundaries (Map 1; Don Major, personal communication, Feb. 23, 2021).

The NGB covers 140,200 km<sup>2</sup> in the northern portion of the broader Great Basin, including parts of Oregon, Idaho, Utah, Nevada, and California (Map 1). The region also contains some or all of 1415 unique grazing allotments administered by the Department of the Interior (DOI) via the Bureau of Land Management (BLM). Collectively, these allotments comprise 74.25% of the total land area of the NGB, and are managed by a variety of stakeholders, primarily for livestock grazing. Complex dynamics among sagebrush, juniper, cheatgrass, wildfire, restoration, and increasing drought also manifest across the NGB.



Map 1. BLM-allocated grazing allotments in the study area, the Northern Great Basin, in the context of BLM-managed lands. Black outline indicates the boundary of the Northern Basin & Range Level III Ecoregion. N.B. Not all grazing allotments are fully within BLM (public) lands; some extend across multiple management jurisdictions. (Data: EPA, BLM, US Census Bureau).

### **Data Selection**

Species distribution models rely on a combination of environmental variables and observations of species presence to predict where species are likely to occur across space (Elith & Leathwick, 2009). Typically, this involves identifying climatic and topographic predictor variables likely to influence a species' broader environmental niche. Here, I expand beyond geophysical and climatic covariates to also include the influences of abiotic disturbance and biotic interaction factors.

#### Species Occurrence Data

My SDMs use both presence and absence points from confirmed field observations in the LANDFIRE Reference Database (LFRDB), where presence points are any of the three species or species groups, respectively, and absence points are any other plant species observation in the NGB. The LFRDB is a multi-agency effort that includes geolocated observations of plant species, including those of management concern, across the entire United States. These data come from a variety of sources, including the USFS Forest Inventory Analysis, USFS National Gap Analysis Program, and National Park Service Inventory and Monitoring (LANDFIRE, 2016). This includes observations from as far back as the mid-1950s for some species, and a data release in 2021 known as the LF 2016 Remap added species observations up to 2016, from a previous endpoint of 2006. Most point data, however, including for sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass, span a shorter temporal subset. The LF 2016 Remap process also substantially altered the available data, not only adding many more years of georeferenced observations to the LFRDB, but also removing previous submissions by federal agencies without noting their removal. This resulted in large gaps in point data in the NGB and necessitated merging the initial LFRDB and the 2016 Remap version to retain a more complete dataset for the study area (Map 2).



Map 2. Map of both merged datasets in the NGB with an overlay of the LF 2016 Remap LFRDB data for comparison. All points in this map were incorporated in species distribution modeling as presence or absence points.

The merge process added five additional years of data, updating the LFRDB points from 2004 to 2009 in the NGB. In total, this merge process resulted in 111,179 species points in the NGB. After subsequently limiting points only to BLM grazing allotments with spatial adjacencies to other allotments in the NGB, there were 13,827 combined instances of the species of interest (presence points) and 6398 true absence points from the LFRDB to use for the response variables in modeling, for a total of 20,225 points.



Map 3. Map of presence points for sagebrush, cheatgrass, and juniper in the NGB, collected between 1974 and 2009. Data: EPA, LFRDB, US Census Bureau, Stamen.

Of the 13,827 presence points for the three species types of interest, 7334 were sagebrush, 2038 were juniper, and 4455 were cheatgrass (Map 3). Although the NGB contains four subspecies of sagebrush with unique traits and niches—ssp. *tridentata* (basin big sagebrush, ssp. *vaseyana* (mountain big sagebrush), ssp. *spiciformis* (snowfield big sagebrush), and ssp. *wyomingensis* (Wyoming big sagebrush)—I grouped them for purposes of this model as a unified sagebrush category, per previous sagebrush distribution modeling research (Requena-Mullor et al., 2019). Known difficulties distinguishing among sagebrush subspecies, particularly in-field, further substantiated this grouping approach (McArthur et al., 1988; Richardson et al., 2012), as did similarities in subspecies' responses to elevation and site exposure gradients (Appendix A). Similar in-field identification issues, as well as evidence for interspecific gene flow and hybridization among Great Basin juniper species, led to a similar decision to use one grouped juniper
category, rather than tracking Western juniper, Utah juniper, and Rocky Mountain juniper as separate response variables (Terry, 2010; Terry et al., 2000). Plotting group means and standard errors for juniper species' responses to elevation and exposure indicated, as with sagebrush subspecies, some differences in elevational distributions, but very similar exposure distributions across species (Appendix A). This data exploration conveyed adequate similarities across species to use one juniper category as the juniper response variable.

I further subset presence and absence data based on whether or not they fell within a grazing allotment. I eliminated any species presence/absence points not located in an allotment, and in turn eliminated any allotments without points in order to later build a neighbor adjacency matrix in order to account for the spatial effects of grazing units via conditional autoregressive models.

### **Biotic Predictor Variables**

The models also included presence of the two non-focal species as predictor variables to represent co-occurrence. For example, the sagebrush distribution model included cheatgrass and juniper as predictor variables, and so on. Here, co-occurrence serves as a proxy for species interactions, whether competitive or symbiotic, that many correlative SDMs do not capture (Pollock et al., 2014). Past studies indicate that including biotic predictor variables in SDMs has improved their predictive performance (Araújo & Luoto, 2007; Leathwick, 2002; Pollock et al., 2014). In this case, since juniper, sagebrush, and cheatgrass so frequently co-occur in the NGB, these biotic covariates also stand to offer insights relevant to the simultaneous management of the three species groups. Species co-occurrence was indicated by any species observations that were collected in the same

batch and in close proximity. This approach ensured not only spatial, but also temporal, co-occurrence.

# Climate and Topographic Data

Climatic and topographic variables (e.g., cumulative annual precipitation and elevation) are a typical component of SDMs, and often used as correlated proxies for more directly relevant factors affecting species distributions (Elith & Leathwick, 2009). Here, I use climatic and topographic variables with functional relevance to the distributions of sagebrush, cheatgrass and juniper across the NGB in the context of restoration and wildfires. The first of these is maximum VPD, taken from the Parameter-elevation Regressions on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM) 30-year normals (1990-2020) at an 800-meter resolution. VPD, a metric of the extent to which atmospheric water content is below the saturation point, contributes to fuel aridity and, by extension, to the size and severity of wildfires across the American West (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016; Iglesias et al., 2022). VPD also directly contributes to drought-induced plant mortality, with most species exhibiting a VPD survival threshold (Grossiord et al., 2020). Together, VPD, the sensitivity of plants to water limitations (e.g., drought), and climate change all drive wildfire regimes (Rao et al., 2022). VPD is also notably underexplored as a factor in semiarid plant species distributions, and despite the fact that the more commonly-used covariate of precipitation is a relatively weak predictor of sagebrush in particular (Still & Richardson, 2015).

Both slope (steepness in degrees) and aspect (the direction a slope faces) relate the abiotic conditions driving species-specific site suitability and species ability to recover from disturbances (R. F. Miller & Tausch, 2002). Mountain big sagebrush (*Artemisia*)

*tridentata* Nutt. ssp. *vaseyana* [Rydb.] Beetle) and Wyoming big sagebrush (*A. tridentata* Nutt. ssp. *wyomingensis* Beetle & Young), for example, exhibit stronger natural and post-restoration recovery on north-facing slopes (Davies & Bates, 2017). Meanwhile, more drought-prone (*i.e.*, southerly) aspects may delay recovery among some *A. tridentata* subspecies (Nelson et al., 2014) and provide greater support for cheatgrass populations (Davies & Bates, 2017). Slope can determine aridity conditions, which affect sagebrush, cheatgrass, and juniper distributions (Condon et al., 2011; Requena-Mullor et al., 2019). Together, the steepness of catchment-scale slopes and more northern-facing aspects also increase the probability of fire refugia, which has implications for the occurrence of all three species of interest (Meigs et al., 2020).

The topography-vegetation-fire nexus points to the utility of a topographic metric that combines both slope and aspect. Here, I first derived both slope and aspect in R (R Core Team, 2021) using USGS 1/3 arc-second digital elevation model data, which is approximately equivalent to 10-meter resolution (USGS, 2021). I then used site exposure as a metric to combine slope and aspect, calculated by the equation:

slope 
$$\times \cos(\pi \times (\frac{aspect-180}{180})),$$

where slope and aspect are in degrees, and the output exposure values range from -100 to 100, ranging from less exposed to more exposed, or generally cooler to warmer (Balice et al., 2000). This index has demonstrated efficacy in a modeling context as a topographic metric that combines aspect and slope (Balice et al., 2000).

## Wildfire Covariates

To account for the influence of disturbances on species distributions, models included a predictor variable for number of fires based on the 1878-2019 USGS Combined

Wildfire Datasets for the United States and Certain Territories, which includes information from Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity and other federal, state, and local agencies (Welty & Jeffries, 2020). For models looking only at distributions for species that have experienced fire, I also included fire size in acres and time since fire, where the number represented the year post-fire in which a species point was observed in the LFRDB.

## Land Treatment Digital Library

Restoration data come from the Land Treatment Digital Library (LTDL; https://ltdl.wr.usgs.gov/), a database of over 55,000 records of BLM restoration work and management activities that is maintained and annually updated by the USGS (Pilliod et al., 2021). Treatments include, among others, seeding, planting, fencing, herbicide application, and prescribed burning. I retained all treatments categorized as "Implemented" in the LTDL polygon records, then assigned each species presence or absence point a "Treatment" or "No Treatment" category based on whether or not the area of the species observation had been treated before the LFRDB point collection. Within the NGB, there were 749 Treatment and 6626 No Treatment points for sagebrush, 482 Treatment and 3997 No Treatment points for cheatgrass, and 104 Treatment and 1948 No Treatment points for juniper. Among absences, there were 287 Treatment and 6185 No Treatment points.

## **Species Distribution Modeling**

The inherently spatial nature of SDMs requires addressing spatial autocorrelation among species presence and absence points. Here, I elected to use a conditional autoregressive (CAR) modeling approach, in which the model structure accounts for the proximity of areal units—in this case, BLM grazing allotments—to address spatial dependencies across presence/absence points and within model outputs. CAR models are most useful in cases where the spatial position of model input data likely influences the data themselves. One consistent use case for multilevel CAR models has been in epidemiological studies, where exploiting adjacencies of non-overlapping areal units can facilitate deeper understanding of disease spread (*e.g.*, Bivand et al., 2013; Djeudeu et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2014). The applicability of multilevel CAR models for ecological problems has been unexplored, but holds promise for understanding ecological processes that occur across human-managed spaces.

#### Model Implementation

I conducted all spatial and statistical analyses in R 4.1.1 (R Core Team 2021). For each of the three species of interest, I constructed a multilevel logistic CAR model in the R package CARBayes (Lee, 2016). CAR models specifically handle spatial dependencies by modeling spatial autocorrelation via a set of spatial random effects via a variety of implementations, all of which rely on adjacency matrices of the modeled areal units (Besag et al., 1991; Lee, 2016). This allows for easier interpretation of spatial variability in models than a non-CAR implementation while also maintaining high precision and low bias (Beale et al., 2010). Here, I constructed a multilevel CAR model for each species' SDM via the CARBayes function 'S.CARmultilevel' (Lee, 2016), implemented with a binomial likelihood and variation modeled by the following decomposition:

$$\psi_k = \phi_k$$
 ,

$$\phi_{k} | \phi_{-k} \sim N\left(\frac{\rho \sum_{j=1}^{K} w_{kj} \phi_{j}}{\rho \sum_{j=1}^{K} w_{kj} + 1 - \rho}, \frac{\tau^{2}}{\sum_{j=1}^{K} w_{kj} + 1 - \rho}\right),$$
  
$$\tau^{2}, \sigma^{2} \sim \text{Inverse Gamma}(a, b).$$

$$\rho \sim \text{Uniform (0,1)}.$$

Here,  $\phi = (\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_k)$  represents the spatial variation of all individuals within a given area, where *k* is the total number of areas in the model. I used the default CARBayes priors for  $\tau^2$  and  $\sigma^2$  (*a*=1, *b*=0.01), as well as  $\rho$  proposed by Leroux et al. (2000), and set a regularizing prior on  $\beta$  to constrain the model space to values closer to zero and avoid model overfitting (McElreath, 2019; Polson & Sokolov, 2019). While there are a number of options for CAR priors in a Bayesian framework, the Leroux prior appears to outperform others, especially for models with a large (>100) number of areas (Aswi et al., 2020).

To account for both spatial autocorrelation among species and absence points, as well as to acknowledge the role of grazing and rangeland management in the NGB's ecological function, I used grazing allotments as the spatial varying intercept for each of the sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass SDMs, represented by k in the above decomposition. While the NGB partially or wholly contains 1415 grazing allotments overseen and allocated by the BLM, I retained 515 of these that allotments both contained LFRDB points and had adjacencies with other grazing units, which is necessary for CAR models, which rely on a neighborhood matrix, **W**, to indicate areal unit adjacency (De Oliveira, 2012; Lee, 2016; Morris et al., 2019).

Based on Requena-Mullor et al. (2019), who found that model performance in sagebrush systems improved with the inclusion of fire variables (number of fires and fire occurrence) I included number of fires as a covariate in each species' SDM, with additional fire characteristics as predictor variables in the fire-only models (see below). Beyond number of fires, each model included predictor variables for implemented LTDL treatments, a site exposure index value, and maximum VPD from PRISM 30-year normal.

Each model also contained covariates for co-occurrence of the other two species of interest. See Figure 2 for a conceptual diagram of the CAR model workflow.



Figure 2. Conceptual diagram of workflow for CAR model implementation. Orange highlight around "Grazing Allotments" indicates its use as the areal unit implemented as a spatial varying intercept. N.B. Fire size and time since fire were just included in fire-only versions of all SDMs. Diagram created using BioRender.com.

I standardized all continuous predictor variables (maximum VPD, site exposure, number of fires) to a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1 (Gelman, 2008), before fitting each model on three chains. Each chain of the sagebrush CAR model ran for 90,000 iterations with a warmup of 40,000 samples and thinned to every fifth draw, resulting in 30,000 total post-warmup samples. Both the cheatgrass and juniper CAR models ran on three chains for 100,000 iterations with 60,000 burn-in samples, then thinned to every fifth

draw, for 24,000 total post-warmup samples. The cheatgrass and juniper CAR implementations required a higher number of iterations and burn-in samples to achieve consistent convergence. I assessed model convergence and proper mixing using traceplots and R-hat values of less than 1.01, as well as Geweke diagnostic values in the range -1.96 to 1.96 (S. P. Brooks & Gelman, 1998; Geweke, 1992).

In addition to the baseline models for all three species, I ran another SDM for each species using only the LFRDB points that had experienced historical fire. These models retained the same covariates as the initial SDMs, and also included fire size and time since fire to offer more robust insights into the effects of fire characteristics on species distributions in historically burned areas. These models replicated the priors from the initial SDM for each species, but included a much smaller dataset, with 1652 species presence/absence points and 141 grazing allotments. Each fire-only model ran on three chains with 90,000 iterations and 40,000 warmup samples thinned to every fifth draw, for a total of 30,000 post-warmup samples.

## Model Validation

To validate the models, I used block k-fold cross-validation with 515 folds, each of which corresponded to a single grazing unit, followed by an assessment of log-loss, overall classification accuracy, and balanced classification accuracy as error metrics. While k-fold cross-validation is a typical approach for assessing SDMs' performance, using a blocking strategy may even further prevent overfitting and improve estimates of prediction errors (Merow et al., 2014; Roberts et al., 2017). Since the grazing allotments serve as the spatial random effect, this blocking method helps account for both spatial autocorrelation within the model and for the random effect structure (Roberts et al., 2017). The small size of these

blocks also limits extrapolation, while still allowing for prediction into areas lacking initial species observation points (Roberts et al., 2017).

To assess classification accuracy, I compared the matrix of predicted presence/absence values for each point in a given left-out grazing allotment (*i.e.*, a fold) to the actual presence/absence value for the same point. This allowed me to propagate model uncertainty through the error assessment before calculating the overall and balanced classification using the R package "yardstick" (Kuhn & Vaughan, 2021). Overall accuracy measures the number of correct predictions out of the total predictions, generally resulting in a somewhat more optimistic accuracy figure. Balanced accuracy corrects for imbalanced data, such as the LFRDB species presence/absence points, by taking the mean of sensitivity (number of correctly predicted true positives divided by total number of predicted positives) and specificity (number of correctly predictive true negatives divided by the total number of predicted negatives), which generally results in a somewhat less optimistic classification accuracy (Brodersen et al., 2012).

To calculate log-loss for each model, I estimated the predicted probability of occurrence of points in each left-out allotment in each of the 515 folds. This resulted in 1000 posterior predictive draws for each initial species presence/absence point in all three models (20,225,000 total predictions), which I then compared to the initial observed values in each allotment via the log-loss function. Log-loss represents the negative log likelihood of the test data produced in the k-fold cross-validation process; in other words, it assesses the uncertainties of probabilities estimated by the models by comparing fitted probabilities to the actual data (Phillips & Dudík, 2008; Requena-Mullor et al., 2019). Here, higher log-loss indicates worse model performance, and the log-loss values can also be compared

across SDMs as a measure of relative performance across multiple logistic regression models.

I repeated the same process to validate the fire-only models, using just the 141 grazing allotments that contained fire, species presence/absence points, and were contiguous with at least one other allotment as the "folds." This resulted, again, in 1000 posterior predictions for each of the initial 1652 species presence/absence points in the fire-only grazing allotments, for a total of 1,652,000 predictive posterior draws from which to calculate log-loss. To calculate overall and balanced accuracy, I compared the predicted presence/absence values from each left-out fold to the observed presence/absence values for the points in the corresponding fire-only grazing allotment.

## Model Interpretation

I interpreted all regression coefficients whose Bayesian 95% credible intervals did not contain 0 as providing strong evidence of the given variable having an effect on the probability of species occurrence. This is, in some respects, a Bayesian analog to a frequentist *p*-value, but can be directly interpreted as the probability of either a positive or negative effect of a particular covariate. Conversely, for the purposes of these models, I considered regression coefficients whose Bayesian 95% CIs crossed zero to not have a strong directional effect on species occurrence, although these coefficients and CIs may still offer some ecological insights into the effects of the specific predictors (Kruschke & Liddell, 2018).

#### Model Predictions

Using the model fits for both the initial and fire-only models, I created spatially explicit predictions of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass distributions, respectively, in the NGB. Each of the initial predictor variable datasets served as the new spatial layers on which to predict model outputs, with the exception of species presence/absence, which was LFRDB point data. To establish non-point spatial representations of sagebrush and cheatgrass presence in spatial predictions of the models, I used the National Land Cover Database (NLCD) Rangeland Condition Monitoring Assessment and Projection (RCMAP) sagebrush cover and annual herbaceous cover layers, respectively, from 2009 to represent the new test data for the correct time period.



Figure 3. Conceptual diagram of raster-based model prediction process.

To represent juniper presence, I used 2009 remotely-sensed estimates of pinyonjuniper biomass in the Great Basin (Filippelli et al., 2020). I set a threshold such that any pixel in the NLCD data with  $\geq$ 15% cover counted as species presence (*i.e.*, the pixel value became 1) per Bradley *et al.*, who considered 15% a threshold for "high abundance" based on remotely sensed data classification (Bradley et al., 2018). Given that pinyon-juniper biomass is predicated on the presence of pinyon-juniper, the any non-zero pixel from the 2009 biomass layer represented juniper presence. I then stacked, scaled, and centered these variable rasters to use as prediction layers. See Figure 3 for a visual explanation of this prediction process.

### RESULTS

#### **Conditional Autoregressive Models for All NGB Grazing Allotments**

Overall, the three SDMs that included both burned and unburned areas indicate that species co-occurrence, number of fires, and maximum VPD have a nonzero effect on the probability of species occurrence in the NGB. Each species also exhibits different spatial responses to the predictor variables used herein (Map 4).

#### Sagebrush Model

Juniper co-occurrence exhibits the largest—over 5.5 times greater than the nextmost influential predictor—and most certain effect on sagebrush presence, increasing the probability of occurrence in the NGB by 71.7% (95% credible interval [CI]: 70.3%, 73.0%). Cheatgrass co-occurrence also has a substantial positive effect on sagebrush presence, increasing the likelihood of sagebrush occurrence by 22.3% (95% CI: 20.1%, 24.5%). Restoration treatment increases the probability of sagebrush presence by 9.35% (95% CI: 5.97%, 12.9%). Maximum VPD increases sagebrush occurrence probability by 43.8% as maximum VPD increases from 8.76 kPa (the minimum observed 30-year normal value in the NGB) to 20.69 kPa (the maximum observed 30-year normal value in the NGB), but with a large amount of uncertainty (95% CI: 36.5%, 51.0%). Number of fires is the only covariate that negatively affects the probability of sagebrush occurrence. As the number of historical fires increases from zero to five, the probability of sagebrush occurrence decreases by 16.7% (95% CI: -21.84%, -8.36%). Site exposure has no discernable effect on sagebrush occurrence (see Figure 4). The sagebrush SDM had an overall classification accuracy of 66.28% (95% CI: 65.21%, 67.18%), a balanced classification accuracy of 63.58% (95% CI: 62.64%, 64.44%), and a log-loss of 0.548 (95% CI: 0.534, 0.567). See Table 1 for a comparison of errors for all model iterations.

Table 1.Comparison of overall accuracy, balanced accuracy, and log-lossassessments for full CAR and fire-only versions of sagebrush, juniper, andcheatgrass SDMs. Error assessments used a k-fold process that held out a singlegrazing allotment (fold) of data in each model run.

Model Version	Overall Acc. (95% CI)	Balanced Acc. (95% CI)	Log-loss (95% CI)
Sagebrush	66.28% (65.21, 67.18)	63.58% (62.64, 64.44)	0.548 (0.534, 0.567)
Cheatgrass	92.04% (91.66, 92.37)	89.20% (88.91, 89.48)	0.161 (0.155, 0.170)
Juniper	89.41% (88.78, 90.01)	82.63% (81.90, 83.19)	0.155 (0.150, 0.166)
Sage. (Fire-Only)	57.93% (55.75, 60.23)	55.62% (53.45, 57.96)	0.897 (0.878, 0.922)
Cheat. (Fire-Only)	78.63% (76.82, 80.39)	77.92% (76.34, 79.57)	0.496 (0.485, 0.515)
Jun. (Fire-Only)	84.20% (83.35, 84.93)	74.06% (71.39, 76.97)	3.949 (3.946, 3.953)

## Juniper Model

Sagebrush co-occurrence conversely has the greatest effect on the likelihood of juniper, increasing the probability of occurrence by 88.1% (95% CI: 84.7%, 90.7%), with an overall effect more than 10 times stronger than that of any other covariate. Meanwhile, cheatgrass co-occurrence has very little effect on the likelihood of juniper presence in the NGB, increasing the probability of occurrence by just 0.409% (95% CI: 0.0126%, 0.944%). Number of fires decreases the likelihood of juniper occurrence by 1.11% (95% CI: -1.49%, -0.386%) as the number of historical burns goes from zero to five. As maximum VPD moves from 8.76 kPa to 20.69 kPa, the probability of juniper occurrence decreases by 12.8% (95% CI: -10.3%, -7.70%). The application of treatment has a weak effect on juniper occurrence, with the 95% CI crossing zero, although the 50% CI

demonstrates that restoration treatments somewhat reduce juniper presence (see Figure 4). Based on these models, site exposure has a weak effect on juniper occurrence. The juniper SDM had an 89.41% overall classification accuracy (95% CI: 88.78, 90.01), 82.63% balanced classification accuracy (95% CI: 81.90%, 83.19%), and a log-loss of 0.155 (95% CI: 0.150, 0.166; Table 1).



Figure 4. Combined effect size plot for all three SDMs across all NGB grazing allotments. Lines crossing zero indicates that the 95% CI contains 0. Dots indicate median effect size based on regression coefficients. Cheatgrass Model

As with juniper, sagebrush co-occurrence has the largest influence on the probability of cheatgrass. Sagebrush co-occurrence has an effect on cheatgrass nearly 16 times more influential than the next-strongest predictor, increasing the likelihood of presence by 94.3% (95% CI: 93.7%, 94.9%) compared to no co-occurrence. Juniper co-

occurrence also positively affects the probability of cheatgrass presence, but by a much smaller amount, 2.03% (95% CI: 0.757%, 3.63%), while holding other conditions at their mean. By magnitude, number of fires has the second strongest effect on cheatgrass occurrence. As the number of historical fires increases from zero to five, the likelihood of cheatgrass presence increases 69.8% (95% CI: 49.2%, 83.2%). The probability of cheatgrass occurrence increases 11.4% (95% CI: 7.83%, 15.6%) as maximum VPD goes from 8.76 kPa to 20.69 kPa. Cheatgrass likelihood also increases 10.0% (95% CI: 5.12%, 16.56%) as the site exposure index value moves from -15.1 to 21.6, corresponding to a shift from more north-facing to more south-facing. The application of restoration treatments has a weak effect on cheatgrass occurrence (see Figure 4). The cheatgrass SDM performed slightly better than the juniper SDM, with an overall classification accuracy of 92.04% (95% CI: 91.66%, 92.37%), a balanced classification accuracy of 89.20% (95% CI: 88.91%, 89.48%), and a log-loss of 0.161 (95% CI: 0.155, 0.170; Table 1).



Map 4 Spatial predictions for sagebrush (a), cheatgrass (b), and juniper (c) CAR SDMs in historically burned and unburned NGB grazing allotments. Data: US Census Bureau, US EPA, USGS, BLM, NLCD, PRISM, SRTM, LFRDB.

# Spatial Autocorrelation

Each CAR model's structure included a grazing allotment adjacency matrix that allowed the model to explicitly handle inherent spatial autocorrelation across points in neighboring allotments. Each model then produced results for spatial autocorrelation, or spatial dependence, across allotments represented by  $\rho$ , a value between 0 (total independence) and 1 (total dependence). Posterior estimates for the spatial dependence term,  $\rho$ , are 0.712 (95% CI: 0.562, 0.830) for sagebrush, 0.531 (95% CI: 0.244, 0.768) for cheatgrass, and 0.878 (95% CI: 0.757, 0.944) for juniper, with higher values indicating higher spatial autocorrelation between grazing units (Figure 5). Juniper presence exhibits markedly higher spatial dependency across grazing units than sagebrush, and vastly more than cheatgrass.



Figure 5. Density plots comparing rho value distributions for sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass. Higher rho value indicates greater spatial dependency of species presence across grazing allotments.

## **Fire-Only Models**

In the fire-only models, the direction and relative magnitude of covariates' respective effects remain consistent with the initial model iterations, with species cooccurrence continuing to exhibit the strongest influence on other species' presence. The fire-only models also do not provide evidence of post-fire treatment efficacy for the three species of interest. See Map 5 for explicit spatial predictions of each species distribution in historically burned portions of the NGB.

## Fire-Only Sagebrush Model

Juniper co-occurrence continues to have the largest effect on sagebrush presence— 4.5 times bigger than the next-strongest covariate, cheatgrass co-occurrence—in previously burned areas, increasing the likelihood of sagebrush occurrence by 42.62% (95% CI: 35.25%, 49.62%). The probability of sagebrush increases by 11.38% (95% CI: 5.887%, 16.83%) when cheatgrass co-occurs and by 50.44% (95% CI: 25.74%, 68.87%) as maximum VPD goes from 10.69 kPa to 20.42 kPa in areas that have experienced at least one fire. Notably, time since fire has a greater effect on sagebrush occurrence than number of fires, also increasing the probability of presence by 48.62% (95% CI: 27.90%, 63.59%) as time since fire goes from two to 87 years. Number of fires continues to negatively impact sagebrush, reducing the likelihood of occurrence by 25.66% (95% CI: -30.53%, -19.55%) as number of fires increases from one to five. Fire size, site exposure, and treatments have no meaningful effect on sagebrush occurrence in previously burned areas (Figure 6). The fire-only sagebrush model performed worse than its initial CAR counterpart, with an overall accuracy of 57.93% (95% CI: 55.75%, 60.23%), a balanced accuracy of 55.62% (95% CI: 53.45%, 57.96%), and a log-loss of 0.897 (95% CI: 0.878, 0.922; Table 1).





## **Fire-Only Juniper Model**

Sagebrush co-occurrence has over six and a half times more influence than the nextmost impactful predictor on juniper presence where fires have occurred, increasing the likelihood of occurrence by 56.93% (95% CI: 41.77%, 68.91%). Maximum VPD exhibits the next-strongest effect on juniper occurrence, followed by fire size, reducing likelihood of presence by 17.66% (95% CI: -38.81%, -5.664%) and 4.226% (95% CI: -9.357%, -1.218%), respectively, as VPD moves from 10.69 kPa to 20.42 kPa and fire size increases from a minimum of 7 acres to a maximum of 95,148 acres. For areas with historical fires, unlike in NGB grazing allotments more broadly, cheatgrass co-occurrence has no discernable effect on juniper presence, nor do number of fires, time since fire, or site exposure (Figure 6). The fire-only juniper model performed worse than its initial counterpart, and with a much higher log-loss than either the cheatgrass or sagebrush fire-only models. Log-loss for this model was 3.949 (95% CI: 3.946, 3.953), overall accuracy was 84.20% (95% CI: 83.35%, 84.93%), and balanced accuracy was 74.06% (95% CI: 71.39%, 76.97%; Table 1).

#### Fire-Only Cheatgrass Model

Based on the fire-only cheatgrass SDM, sagebrush co-occurrence is the strongest predictor—over 17.5 times more influential than the next-strongest meaningful covariate—for cheatgrass presence in previously burned areas, increasing likelihood of occurrence by 76.87% (95% CI: 72.98%, 80.09%). Conversely, time since fire negatively impacts cheatgrass, decreasing probability of occurrence by 13.85% (95% CI: -23.70%, -2.679%) as time since fire extends from two years to 87 years. For historically burned areas, maximum VPD, juniper co-occurrence, treatment application, site exposure, number of fires, and fire size have no meaningful effect on cheatgrass occurrence (Figure 6). The fire-only cheatgrass model also performed worse than the initial cheatgrass CAR SDM, with an overall accuracy of 78.63% (95% CI: 76.82%, 80.39%), a balanced accuracy of 77.92% (95% CI: 76.34%, 79.57%). Log-loss for the cheatgrass fire-only model was 0.496 (95% CI: 0.485, 0.515; Table 1).

#### Spatial Autocorrelation for Fire-Only Models

Compared with the initial CAR models, the fire-only SDMs indicated both weaker spatial dependencies across grazing allotments and also much greater uncertainty around the level of spatial dependency for each species based on the models' respective  $\rho$  values. The sagebrush fire-only model had an overall  $\rho$  of 0.598 (95% CI: 0.0752, 0.943), juniper had a  $\rho$  of 0.388 (95% CI: 0.0183, 0.906), and cheatgrass had a  $\rho$  value of 0.559 (95% CI: 0.0764, 0.885). See Appendix A for  $\rho$  value density plots for fire-only SDMs.



Map 5. Spatial predictions for sagebrush (a), cheatgrass (b), and juniper (c) fire-only SDMs in previously burned NGB grazing allotments. Data: US Census Bureau, US EPA, USGS, BLM, NLCD, PRISM, SRTM, LFRDB.

#### DISCUSSION

#### **Implications and Applications**

In response to the question *How do vegetation co-occurrences, wildfire histories, and human interventions influence the distributions of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass in the NGB?*, these results highlight the importance of abiotic and biotic disturbances as drivers of species' distributions in the semi-arid sagebrush steppe of the NGB, as well as the interconnectedness of ecological impacts and management outcomes. In particular, the relative strength of disturbance factors, such as wildfire and invasive species presence, compared to that of climatic and topographic predictors—maximum VPD and site exposure, respectively—points to the necessity of accounting for invasive species and wildfire in defining the plausible operating space for keystone rangeland vegetation, including sagebrush. These same disturbance regimes are equally critical to understanding the dynamics of competing species such as juniper and invasive annual grasses such as cheatgrass. This is particularly important given that many management and restoration decisions currently rely on slope, aspect, and other topographic features, which may miss key considerations.

The results of using a multilevel CAR modeling approach with a management unit as the spatial varying intercept also underscore the relevance of long-term natural resource decision-making, here represented by a type of cadastral data, in broader ecological function and composition (Barber et al., 2022). Incorporating BLM grazing allotments into the three species' CAR models revealed meaningful spatial dependencies of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass across grazing units, likely pointing to the effects of similarities in both management practices and biophysical characteristics across allotments (Niemiec et al., 2018).

Notably, each of the models performed differently, with sagebrush exhibiting by far the highest error rate of the three species of interest, and a poor overall performance for the fire-only model in particular. Since the LFRDB data were richest and most widespread across the NGB for sagebrush, this may indicate a flaw in parameterization for sagebrush specifically, which could be further explored and rectified in future research. Conversely, the low level of error for cheatgrass and juniper models suggests that the selected predictor variables adequately captured the disturbance-management-biophysical dynamics of these species without overfitting. In all cases, these SDMs' respective performance accuracies represent an improvement over the previous effort by Requena-Mullor *et al.* (2019) to model sagebrush distributions in response to wildfire and restoration. These improved accuracies, particularly for juniper and cheatgrass, may point to opportunities for using similar models for on-the-ground predictive purposes.

## The role of species co-occurrence

One of the most notable implications of the full CAR models (*i.e.*, not fire-only) for sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass is the substantial role of species co-occurrence as a driver of species presence for all three species. In particular, the strong influence of sagebrush co-occurrence on both cheatgrass and juniper presence supports the known pattern of both species' expansion into native sagebrush ecosystems. Juniper co-occurrence as a strong predictor for sagebrush also reinforces the fact of juniper's adaptations to and expansion within much of the NGB (Coates et al., 2017; Falkowski et al., 2017). Since the

study period (post-2009), the trajectory of pinyon-juniper woodlands has reversed course, with sharp declines in overall biomass (Filippelli et al., 2020).

Overall, the role of co-occurrence in all six of these SDMs points to potential competition and invasion dynamics, and underscores some of the conditions of cooccurrence that outstrip the effects of other landscape-scale climatic, management, and disturbance factors, including drought, restoration efforts, and wildfire. This finding also reinforces the value of jointly modeling species that consistently interact across landscapes and therefore likely influence each other's distributions in complex ways beyond the role of climatic and topographic factors (Meier et al., 2010; Pollock et al., 2014). While incorporating co-occurrence is not, in and of itself, evidence of vegetation interactions (Blanchet et al., 2020) its clear relevance as a predictor opens the door for more particular questions about the mechanisms underpinning vegetation dynamics (e.g., dispersal, regeneration time, etc.) that influence species distributions in sagebrush ecosystems. However, the relatively smaller effect (or lack thereof) of species co-occurrence in the fireonly models suggests that co-occurrences may become less relevant in areas that have burned. Additionally, these relationships are not entirely bi-directional; while cheatgrass does predict for sagebrush when considering the whole NGB, it has a much weaker effect on juniper presence, and no meaningful effect on either sagebrush or juniper for areas that have experienced at least one fire.

One potential implication of sagebrush co-occurrence as a predictor for cheatgrass is that cheatgrass invasions do not necessarily require a prior disturbance, such as wildfire. Instead, this result indicates that cheatgrass can and does invade relatively intact sagebrush systems, or at minimum that its invasion can precede the wholesale disappearance of sagebrush and associated native species. Although these data cannot account for the exact extent to which any sagebrush system remains intact on the ground, nor the abundance of cheatgrass, this result may counter the narrative that cheatgrass primarily invades already-degraded areas (*e.g.*, Whisenant, 1990). At the same time, widespread, long-term grazing across the NGB also lessens the likelihood that any given area remains truly undisturbed, and indeed itself increases the probability of cheatgrass spread (Williamson et al., 2020). The hypothesis that cheatgrass may invade relatively undisturbed sagebrush systems merits further research.

## Specific influences of fire on species distributions

One of the primary takeaways from both SDM iterations for all three species is the relevance of fire as a predictor of and influence on species distributions in the NGB, responding directly to my second research question: *How do wildfire characteristics such as size, frequency, and time since fire influence plant species distributions in the NGB in the context of other abiotic and biotic drivers*? In particular, a higher number of fires reduces the likelihood of both sagebrush and juniper presence, which squares with the slow post-fire recovery of sagebrush and the general lack of fire tolerance of juniper (Chambers, Miller, et al., 2014). The inverse finding that a higher number of fires increases the likelihood of cheatgrass presence also confirms, at a landscape scale, cheatgrass's success at infiltrating and becoming established in burned areas, generally at the expense of native species (Fusco et al., 2019; Whisenant, 1990). However, the influence of number of fires rather than the entire NGB. The fire-only models demonstrate that time since fire and fire size outweigh the relevance of number of fires in these areas. This holds true for all three

species, with time since fire exhibiting a stronger, and inverse, influence on both sagebrush and cheatgrass presence, and fire size having a larger negative effect than number of fires on juniper presence.

These results build on the finding in Requena-Mullor *et al.* (2019) that using fire occurrence and number of fires as covariates improves SDM performance, confirming that characteristics beyond fire occurrence and number of fires, such as time since fire and fire size, matter for species distributions in historically burned areas. The time since fire result, in particular, supports previous findings that sagebrush recovery improves with increased time since fire (Shinneman & McIroy, 2016). Importantly, these fire characteristics remain relevant even when accounting for the respective influences of species co-occurrence and management activities. Collectively, this implies that a fire regime in the NGB that more closely approximates historical normal for fire return interval and fire size may better serve sagebrush and juniper species while potentially limiting cheatgrass spread. Conversely, this means that the ongoing shift toward shorter return intervals and larger fires will likely reduce the presence of sagebrush and juniper in sagebrush ecosystems and result in conversion of shrublands to herbaceous-dominated landscapes (Ellsworth et al., 2020).

The decision to focus on number of fires, time since fire, and fire size stemmed from their relevance to the specific species of interest in this research, as well as historical data availability. While other fire characteristics such as ignition source, severity, and seasonality certainly have influences on species survival, competition, and distribution (Abatzoglou & Kolden, 2011; Bradley et al., 2018; Chambers et al., 2019; Roundy et al., 2018), number of fires, time since fire, and fire size were considered important landscapescale, management-relevant factors here (Paul Makela and BLM staff, personal communication, 16 Mar. 2022). Data on ignitions and burn severity also did not become consistently available until the 1980s, rendering it less applicable as a long-term historical fire predictor variable. Future research exploring additional fire variables would likely add granularity to this work and offer additional insights to conservation and restoration decision-makers.

## Effects of maximum vapor pressure deficit

Maximum VPD, a proxy for "droughtiness," affects the probability of presence or absence for all three species of interest, though not necessarily in the expected directions. VPD exerts a negative effect on juniper, decreasing its likelihood of occurrence, which aligns with juniper species' known lack of drought tolerance and the broader role of drought conditions in mass tree die-offs (Breshears et al., 2005; Flake & Weisberg, 2021).

Conversely, the cheatgrass model indicates a positive impact of increased maximum VPD on species presence, suggesting that cheatgrass is at least relatively more drought-tolerant than sagebrush or juniper in the NGB. Unlike sagebrush and juniper, cheatgrass adapts to increased VPD by germinating earlier in the year, when moisture tends to be higher (Mahood et al., 2021). Increased cheatgrass at higher maximum VPD may also indicate concurrent, overlapping effects of VPD and multiple fires; in other words, higher VPD supports more wildfires, which in turn create suitable openings for cheatgrass during the long recovery periods of less fire-tolerant species like sagebrush and juniper (Chambers, Bradley, et al., 2014).

Somewhat counterintuitively, the big sagebrush SDMs indicate that increased maximum VPD actually also increases the likelihood of sagebrush occurrence. This may reflect the differences in sagebrush subspecies' adaptations to drought and generally more xeric conditions (Kolb & Sperry, 1999), ability to respond to changing climatic conditions (Kleinhesselink & Adler, 2018), and capacity for post-fire re-establishment (Brabec et al., 2017). Sagebrush can also take decades to exhibit adaptations to changing climatic and other ecological conditions (Germino et al., 2019). In other words, the sagebrush CAR model may have had some averaging effect, resulting in an overall positive increase associated with VPD that likely smooths through adaptive lag effects and differential subspecies responses to changing climatic conditions. Still, the sagebrush model here points to the need for additional research on sagebrush responses to projected future increases in VPD (*e.g.*, A. P. Williams et al., 2019) under a warming climate.

## Restoration treatment efficacy

Outputs of the initial CAR models (with and without fires) indicate that restoration treatments in the LTDL reduce the probability of juniper occurrence and increase the probability of sagebrush presence. In other words, these treatments may have been effective to some extent at accomplishing broad restoration goals: reducing juniper density and supporting sagebrush habitat. Conversely, cheatgrass model outcomes do not provide evidence of treatment efficacy at reducing cheatgrass occurrence, which also aligns with known difficulties mitigating its spread and impacts (Pilliod et al., 2021).

In the fire-only models, the lack of interpretable effect of restoration treatments on the occurrence of any of the species of interest in previously burned areas also does not provide evidence of restoration treatment efficacy, at least at the scale of the NGB. Previous studies on post-fire sagebrush ecosystem restoration support the difficulty and timeconsuming nature of recovery processes (*e.g.* Ellsworth et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2014), and much of the research on successful treatments has occurred in experimental settings rather than on a landscape scale (Davies & Bates, 2017). The lack of evidence for post-fire restoration efficacy may also align with Barker *et al.*'s (2019) finding that invasive annual grasses have likely invaded the most fire-prone portions of sagebrush ecosystems pre-fire, and have in turn led to post-fire landscapes dominated by the same invasive grasses, a state that is notoriously hard to reverse (D'Antonio & Vitousek, 1992; Fusco et al., 2021; Pilliod et al., 2021). In other words, the combined difficulty of treating cheatgrass and the invasive annual grass-fire cycle have collided to reduce the landscape-scale efficacy of restoration treatments, particularly in areas where time since fire is shorter.

The specific locations of restoration treatments may be another important factor in post-fire restoration treatment effectiveness. Post-fire restoration often occurs the BLM's Emergency Stabilization and Rehabilitation (ESR) program, which requires rehabilitation plans within 21 days of a fire's containment. Funding for these projects is also often allocated for the hardest-hit areas, and does not necessarily include resources for monitoring and evaluating treatments (personal communication, BLM staff, March and June 2021). To some extent, then, the conditions surrounding rehabilitation efforts may affect overall chances of success. However, it is unclear to what extent any of these circumstances applied to the 513 points in the fire-only model data in areas that had previously been treated (see Appendix B for maps of species points in previously burned and treated areas in the NGB). Additionally, the LTDL data do not necessarily include every treatment, and the approach used here does not disaggregate by treatment type. This means that some treatments included may have an effect on one species but no effect on another, which further research could clarify. Future research could also explore which wildfires and otherwise degraded areas actually receive treatments, which could partially

determine restoration outcomes. Ultimately, the inclusion of restoration treatments as a model covariate may be more important as a way to represent management realities than as a means of exploring the specific landscape-scale outcomes of restoration activities.

# Spatial dependencies across grazing allotments

The use of multilevel CAR models with grazing allotments as a spatial random effect demonstrates spatial dependencies across neighboring units. This suggests that the likelihood of species presence or absence—particularly for sagebrush and juniper—will be most similar in adjacent allotments, a finding that connects to a complex and variable history of grazing management. Livestock grazing in the western United States dates back to the introduction of cattle and sheep in the 1800s, prior to the establishment of federal land management agencies. For decades, ranchers grazed cattle across the West with the tacit approval of the federal government, including on off-limits indigenous reservation lands, resulting in wide-scale degradation and desertification. In 1934, Congress passed the Taylor Grazing Act to directly responded to livestock-induced disturbances. The law sought to mitigate the degradation of rangelands by initiating a system of grazing allotments overseen by the Forest Service and Grazing Service (which later merged with the General Land Office to become what is now the BLM). This system remains in use today, and is managed on a state-by-state basis to give ranchers low-cost, fixed-term access to public lands for their operations while also preventing overgrazing. While the Taylor Grazing Act and subsequent federal legislation such as the Federal Land Policy and Management Act and Public Rangeland Improvement Act should serve as unifying guidance for rangeland management in theory, the majority of ground-level grazing policy implementation occurs at the level of local field offices (Wilkinson, 1992). Setting aside

the political, economic, and even ecological implications of this system, the inconsistency of implementation has resulted in a set management regimes whose effects on species distributions are difficult to track (but see the Public Employees for Environmental Responsibility's BLM Rangeland Health Status (2020) <u>interactive map</u>, which provides an assessment of the level of degradation of grazing allotments on public lands). Between this history and the fact that livestock grazing is still the most prevalent type of land use in sagebrush ecosystems of the American West, grazing allotments remain critical to these landscapes' structure, function, and management (Chambers et al., 2017).

In other words, management and disturbance regimes in the NGB have long been, and continue to be, inextricably linked. Unsurprisingly, then, including grazing allotments as a spatial component of plant SDMs helps capture the effects of underlying management, which inherently vary by unit. This research is one of the first efforts to capture these spatial effects in a statistically rigorous way through the use of multilevel CAR models that highlight spatial dependencies across neighboring allotments. This novel implementation also directly responds to a call for the inclusion of cadastral data in anthropogenicallyinformed SDMs in sagebrush systems (Requena-Mullor et al., 2019).

The overall implication of the spatial dependency term,  $\rho$ , for each model is that neighboring allotments have similar juniper management approaches, somewhat less similar sagebrush management approaches, and relatively inconsistent (or perhaps simply ineffective) cheatgrass management practices. To some extent, these dependencies may be explained by the fact that a single manager may have a lease on multiple, potentially neighboring grazing allotments, and may therefore make similar decisions for these neighboring units. Other factors at play could be the influence of neighbor interactions (*i.e.*, hearing how a neighboring allotment is managed) and fear of social sanctions (*i.e.* being viewed negatively by neighbors for not adhering to local management norms), which have been found to motivate invasive species control in other contexts (Niemiec et al., 2018). This may be relevant to juniper management in particular, which is a longstanding vexation among ranchers for its rapid densification and substantial water usage. More generally, previous studies suggest that individual invasive management decisions are influenced by the collective nature and norms around weed control (Lubeck et al., 2019), which would potentially substantiate similarities in neighboring allotments. Spatial dependency may also simply reflect biophysical similarities across allotments, but this modeling effort does not specifically parse the various drivers of autocorrelation. However, correlative models like these may serve as a starting point for a mixed-methods social-ecological approach to understanding grazing management approaches and outcomes in sagebrush systems, potentially as a complement to ground-truthing interviews with land managers.

## Limitations

As with any ecological-scale modeling effort, several key limitations and caveats accompanied this research. The first of these was in the LFRDB data that underpinned the model's response variable (species presence/absence). SDMs typically employ point-based response variables, making point data like those in the LFRDB ideal for species presences and absences. However, the LFRDB data carry certain drawbacks that may have limited their utility for this research. One of these drawbacks is the age of the LFRDB point data available in the NGB. While data through 2009 offers a useful retrospective understanding of the interactions among wildfire, restoration, and vegetation dynamics, it does little to clarify the current state of management practices, nor does it offer direction for decisionmaking approaches. Additionally, the multi-source nature of the data points, along with agencies' prerogative to rescind contributed points in the 2016 Remap process (personal communication, USGS EROS User Services, October 4, 2021), also adds a general level of uncertainty.

The limitations of the LFRDB could be rectified through the use of different data for the species presence and absence points. In particular, remotely sensed data are becoming increasingly valuable—and functional—for use in SDMs, both as predictor and response variables (Randin et al., 2020; Schwager & Berg, 2021; Waltari et al., 2014; West et al., 2016). Alternatively, the BLM maintains the Assessment, Inventory, and Monitoring (AIM) database, which includes point observations of terrestrial data in the Terrestrial AIM Database (TerrADat). AIM data could supplement or supersede LANDFIRE in the absence of more regularly and thoroughly updated data collection in the LFRDB.

Beyond the response data from the LFRDB, the three SDMs required numerous decisions about predictor variable selection, data selection for those predictor variables, and cleaning of that data. Among these decisions was the choice to treat all subspecies of big sagebrush as a single species group and all species of juniper in the NGB as a single species. In part, the LFRDB's categorization of sagebrush and juniper as, depending on the year, simply "*Artemisia tridentata*" (no subspecies) or "*Juniperus*" (no species), drove this decision, since it prevented further specification for certain years. Additionally, relatively recent and, at times, debated, identification of differentiable juniper species (see Adams, 2019), as well as known issues with in-field identification of both big sagebrush subspecies and juniper species prevented certainty in further sub-categorization (Terry, 2010; Terry et al., 2000). While these groupings largely exhibited similarities in group and sub-group

means and errors (see Appendix A), the trade-off was an inability to capture how big sagebrush sub-species and juniper species distributionally respond to different disturbance, restoration, and long-term management influences.

Another decision was using NLCD sagebrush and herbaceous cover rasters and a juniper biomass (Filippelli et al., 2020) raster for creating spatially explicit model predictions. While these were imperfect replacements, they obviated the need for creating species co-occurrence rasters via kriging, which would have led to a situation in which kriged co-occurrence layers—themselves model outputs—would have been used in the overall spatial predictions of my SDMs. The rasters I selected provided plausible spatial locations for each co-occurring species while avoiding this circularity.

These models also fail to capture the potential influences of other co-occurring native (e.g., Great Basin wild rye [Leymus cinereus], Idaho fescue [Festuca idahoensis], bluebunch wheatgrass [Pseudoroegneria spicata]) and invasive plant species (e.g., medusahead rye [Taeniatherum caput-medusae (L.) Nevski], ventenata (Ventenata dubia). While the focus here was on the disturbance, distribution, and restoration dynamics of representative examples of ecologically and management-relevant plant species, such an emphasis may come at the expense of illuminating other key dynamics and ecological realities. In particular, it does little to illuminate the roles of other invasive annual grasses that contribute to the grass-fire cycle and species competition. Recently, there have been calls for research that more fully addresses the disturbance dynamics and management outcomes related to other long-standing and emerging invasive annual grasses across the American West (Aslan & Dickson, 2020; Schroeder et al., 2022). Still other research has suggested that certain parts of the Great Basin have become invasive annual grasslands that

must be managed as a new type of persistent ecosystem, rather than through the more traditional lens of these annual grasses as invasions of other ecosystem types (Davies et al., 2021). There have also been calls for treating juniper dynamics as expansion rather than encroachment—which is a more value-laden proposition—particularly considering they are native to the NGB (BLM staff, personal communication, June 2021). This aligns with another recent call to frame distributional movements of plants across a landscape as adaptations, including to climate change, rather than "invasions" (Urban, 2020). Considering juniper and cheatgrass from these perspectives would shift the paradigm underlying the use of SDMs for understanding restoration treatment efficacy in particular.

Given the primacy of wildfire in my research objectives, maximum VPD was a logical climatic predictor since it has implications for vegetation survival, distribution, and recruitment (Grossiord et al., 2020; Littlefield et al., 2020; Mahood & Balch, 2019), the role of vegetation as fuel, and fire behavior more broadly (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016). This decision also allowed the models to focus on the specific effects of fire histories and restoration treatments, with climate and topography serving more as baseline context. However, VPD captures a narrow swath of the broader climatic realities of species' environmental niches; precipitation, particularly of the antecedent year, may have added granularity to the results. The effects of minimum temperature on sagebrush distributions also remain largely unexplored, although current research suggests that sufficiently high minimum temperature is a determinant of sagebrush seedling survival, and also varies by subspecies and seasonality (Brabec et al., 2017; Lazarus et al., 2019).

Although a primary objective of this research was to disentangle the roles of different fire characteristics in species distributions, the models ultimately relied on a
relatively small number of fire attributes to represent wildfire histories. Fire severity, for example, which has been altered by vegetation shift and can dictate abundance and proximity of post-fire seed sources, could have supplemented number of fires, fire size, and time since fire as a covariate (Chambers et al., 2017; Littlefield et al., 2020). This may also have accounted for some of the remaining unexplained variance in the fire-only models. In future iterations of this modeling, a more remote sensing-driven approach would open new possibilities for fire data from MODIS or other fire-related remotely sensed data that could expand the characteristics considered.

Finally, BLM grazing allotments were selected as the areal unit representing spatial random effects to reflect the reality of Western land management. However, choosing a different areal unit such as pastures, counties, census tracts, or even states, could have altered model results and interpretation. Additionally, the models do not point to benefits or shortcomings of any given allotment or associated management strategy.

### **Future Directions**

There are several potential extensions of this work that would further improve its relevance to landscape-scale management of sagebrush ecosystems in the NGB. The first would be to update the data such that the models would reflect species distributions up to the present, rather than stopping at 2009. To achieve this, as aforementioned, might require the use of remotely sensed data or other ground-level field observations, such as BLM TerrADat records.

Another obvious pathway for this research would be to explicitly incorporate future climate projections in order to help managers anticipate the future outcomes of management-disturbance-vegetation dynamics. While climate change will directly drive future species distributions to some extent, the concomitant changes in species' interactions and mechanisms, as well as responses to shifting disturbance regimes, might actually be the most relevant climate-related processes to capture. This would both increase ecological applicability (Guisan et al., 2013; Sinclair et al., 2010) and avoid issues with predicting species' likely "idiosyncratic" responses to non-analog climates (Fitzpatrick & Hargrove, 2009; Lewis, 2006). Additionally, research has suggested that, at least for big sagebrush, wildfire and invasive annual grasses may play a greater role in future species distributions and survival than the direct effects of a changing climate (Schlaepfer et al., 2021). This proposed role of future biotic and abiotic disturbance regimes, combined with the evident strength of species co-occurrence as a predictor in this work, points to a need for more research modeling the future relationships among sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass in the context of multiple, overlapping disturbances that capture unexpected, nonlinear effects and interactions.

Future work might also include a more finely-resolved temporal component that could track changes in predicted distributions throughout time, rather than presenting a prediction for a single, historically-informed time step (*e.g.*, Schliep et al., 2018). Theoretically, this might allow for better identification of the trajectories of overlapping disturbance and climate change processes, instead of assuming linear relationships between climate change and species distribution patterns (Austin, 2007; Elith et al., 2010; Hughes et al., 2019; Pearson & Dawson, 2003). Alternatively or additionally, future work could directly consider mechanistic components of species distributions, including, among other mechanisms, dispersal, post-fire regeneration, and other disturbance response processes (*sensu* Case & Lawler, 2017). This would move the work away from its current correlative

structure, and could improve overall model performance under changing environmental conditions (Buckley et al., 2010; Urban et al., 2016; Zurell et al., 2009).

Critically, any expansion on this research should involve iterative communication with BLM staff—as well as other agency staff, private land managers, and Indigenous peoples—involved in management decisions related to sagebrush, juniper, cheatgrass, wildfire, and/or restoration. These interactions could directly improve the performance and relevance of future modeling efforts (Guisan et al., 2013). A collaborative approach could also offer predictive insights that support vegetation and restoration monitoring efforts, particularly in the Botany and Emergency Stabilization and Rehabilitation (ESR) departments of the BLM. In concert with the aforementioned incorporation of future climate projections, these efforts could also support adaptive management decision-making processes on the ground by highlighting plausible ecological transitions.

### CONCLUSIONS

The conditional autoregressive species distribution models of sagebrush, juniper, and cheatgrass used here point to three key management-relevant takeaways: 1) Species distributions depend not only on abiotic and biophysical factors, but also on species cooccurrence, which has the strongest effect by far on occurrence; 2) Fire characteristics beyond fire occurrence meaningfully influence sagebrush steppe species distributions; 3) While restoration treatments have generally had some success with sagebrush and juniper, there is little evidence of landscape-scale efficacy of post-fire restoration of juniper, sagebrush, and cheatgrass; and 4) Drought conditions—here represented by maximum VPD—are a major driver of distributions even within the context of other disturbance and management factors at play.

More broadly, these models collectively confirm that both biotic (*e.g.*, invasive and quasi-invasive vegetation interactions) and abiotic disturbances (*e.g.*, climate and wildfire) are linked to the distributions of plant species in the sagebrush steppe of the NGB. At the same time, direct human interventions, both in the form of restoration treatments and longer-term management regimes via grazing allotments, have bearing on ecological outcomes, and should be accounted for in any realistic SDMs. Together, these findings highlight ecological realities in light of inextricably linked, long-term disturbance, vegetation, and management interactions. In particular, explicating the relative roles of wildfire, biological invasions, and restoration on overall species distributions helps to define the space of plausible ecological futures. Doing so through a Bayesian framework

captures the uncertainties inherent in these disturbance-management-ecology relationships and dynamics and thus presents the full possibility space of their outcomes at a landscape scale. Notably, this work also points to the inherent spatial dependencies at play across grazing allotments in the grazing-dominated NGB. The use of multilevel areal unit modeling to address an ecological problem has broader promise in ecology and humanenvironment systems science, and may help to contextualize the disturbance-management confluence in other social-ecological landscapes.

#### REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T., Juang, C. S., Williams, A. P., Kolden, C. A., & Westerling, A. L. R. (2021). Increasing Synchronous Fire Danger in Forests of the Western United States. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 48(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GL091377
- Abatzoglou, J. T., & Kolden, C. A. (2011). Climate change in Western US deserts: Potential for increased wildfire and invasive annual grasses. *Rangeland Ecology* and Management, 64(5), 471–478. https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-09-00151.1
- Abatzoglou, J. T., & Williams, A. P. (2016). Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(42), 11770–11775. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607171113
- Abatzoglou, J. T., Williams, A. P., & Barbero, R. (2019). Global Emergence of Anthropogenic Climate Change in Fire Weather Indices. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 46(1), 326–336. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL080959
- Adams, R. P. (2019). Juniperus of Canada and the United States: Taxonomy, Key and Distribution. *Lundellia*, 21(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.25224/1097-993x-21.1
- Araújo, M. B., & Luoto, M. (2007). The importance of biotic interactions for modelling species distributions under climate change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16(6), 743–753. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00359.x
- Aslan, C. E., & Dickson, B. G. (2020). Non-native plants exert strong but under-studied influence on fire dynamics. *NeoBiota*, 61, 47–64. https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.61.51141

- Aswi, A., Cramb, S., Duncan, E., & Mengersen, K. (2020). Evaluating the impact of a small number of areas on spatial estimation. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 19(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-020-00233-1
- Austin, M. (2007). Species distribution models and ecological theory: A critical assessment and some possible new approaches. *Ecological Modelling*, 200(1–2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.07.005
- Baker, W. L., & Shinneman, D. J. (2004). Fire and restoration of piñon-juniper woodlands in the western United States: A review. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 189(1–3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2003.09.006
- Balch, J. K., Bradley, B. A., Abatzoglou, J. T., Chelsea Nagy, R., Fusco, E. J., & Mahood, A. L. (2017). Human-started wildfires expand the fire niche across the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(11), 2946–2951. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1617394114
- Balch, J. K., Bradley, B. A., D'Antonio, C. M., & Gómez-Dans, J. (2013). Introduced annual grass increases regional fire activity across the arid western USA (1980-2009). *Global Change Biology*, *19*(1), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12046
- Balch, J. K., Iglesias, V., Braswell, A. E., Rossi, M. W., Joseph, M. B., Mahood, A. L.,
  Shrum, T. R., White, C. T., Scholl, V. M., McGuire, B., Karban, C., Buckland,
  M., & Travis, W. R. (2020). Social-Environmental Extremes: Rethinking
  Extraordinary Events as Outcomes of Interacting Biophysical and Social Systems. *Earth's Future*, 8(7), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001319
- Balice, R. G., Miller, J. D., Oswald, B. P., Edminister, C., & Yool, S. R. (2000). Forest surveys and wildfire assessment in the Los Alamos; 1998–1999. 93.
- Barber, C., Graves, S. J., Hall, J. S., Zuidema, P. A., Brandt, J., Bohlman, S. A., Asner,
  G. P., Bailón, M., & Caughlin, T. T. (2022). Species-level tree crown maps
  improve predictions of tree recruit abundance in a tropical landscape. *Ecological Applications, March 2021*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2585

- Barker, B. S., Pilliod, D. S., Rigge, M., & Homer, C. G. (2019). Pre-fire vegetation drives post-fire outcomes in sagebrush ecosystems: evidence from field and remote sensing data. *Ecosphere*, 10(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2929
- Bates, J. D., Miller, R. F., & Svejcar, T. (2005). Long-term successional trends following Western juniper cutting. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 58(5), 533–541.
- Beale, C. M., Lennon, J. J., Yearsley, J. M., Brewer, M. J., & Elston, D. A. (2010). Regression analysis of spatial data. *Ecology Letters*, 13(2), 246–264. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01422.x
- Beguin, J., Martino, S., Rue, H., & Cumming, S. G. (2012). Hierarchical analysis of spatially autocorrelated ecological data using integrated nested Laplace approximation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(5), 921–929. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00211.x
- Besag, J., York, J., & Mollié, A. (1991). Bayesian image restoration, with two applications in spatial statistics. *Annals of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics*, 43(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00116466
- Bivand, R. S., Hauke, J., & Kossowski, T. (2013). Computing the jacobian in gaussian spatial autoregressive models: An illustrated comparison of available methods. *Geographical Analysis*, 45(2), 150–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/gean.12008
- Bivand, R. S., Sha, Z., Osland, L., & Thorsen, I. S. (2017). A comparison of estimation methods for multilevel models of spatially structured data. *Spatial Statistics*, 21, 440–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spasta.2017.01.002
- Bivand, R. S., & Wong, D. W. S. (2018). Comparing implementations of global and local indicators of spatial association. *Test*, 27(3), 716–748. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11749-018-0599-x
- Blanchet, F. G., Cazelles, K., & Gravel, D. (2020). Co-occurrence is not evidence of ecological interactions. *Ecology Letters*, 23(7), 1050–1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13525

- Bowman-Prideaux, C., Newingham, B. A., & Strrand, E. K. (2021). The Effect of Seeding Treatments and Climate on Fire Regimes in Wyoming Sagebrush Steppe. *Fire*, 4(16), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/fire402001
- Boyte, S. P., Wylie, B. K., & Major, D. J. (2016). Cheatgrass percent cover change: Comparing recent estimates to climate change - Driven predictions in the Northern Great Basin. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 69(4), 265–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.03.002
- Brabec, M. M., Germino, M. J., & Richardson, B. A. (2017). Climate adaption and postfire restoration of a foundational perennial in cold desert: insights from intraspecific variation in response to weather. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 54(1), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12679
- Bradley, B. A. (2010). Assessing ecosystem threats from global and regional change:
  Hierarchical modeling of risk to sagebrush ecosystems from climate change, land use and invasive species in Nevada, USA. *Ecography*, 33(1), 198–208.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j
- Bradley, B. A., Curtis, C. A., Fusco, E. J., Abatzoglou, J. T., Balch, J. K., Dadashi, S., & Tuanmu, M. N. (2018). Cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) distribution in the intermountain Western United States and its relationship to fire frequency, seasonality, and ignitions. *Biological Invasions*, 20(6), 1493–1506. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-017-1641-8
- Breshears, D. D., Cobb, N. S., Rich, P. M., Price, K. P., Allen, C. D., Balice, R. G., Romme, W. H., Kastens, J. H., Floyd, M. L., Belnap, J., Anderson, J. J., Myers, O. B., & Meyer, C. W. (2005). Regional vegetation die-off in response to globalchange-type drought. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(42), 15144–15148. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0505734102

- Brodersen, K. H., Mathys, C., Chumbley, J. R., Daunizeau, J., Ong, C. S., Buhman, J. M.,
  & Stephan, K. E. (2012). Bayesian Mixed-Effects Inference on Classification
  Performance in Hierarchical Data Sets. *Journal OfMachine Learning Research*,
  13, 3133–3176.
- Brooks, M. L., D'Antonio, C. M., Richardson, D. M., Grace, J. B., Keeley, J. E., DiTomaso, J. M., Hobbs, R. J., Pellant, M., & Pyke, D. (2004). Effects of Invasive Alien Plants on Fire Regimes. *BioScience*, 54(7), 677–688. https://academic.oup.com/bioscience/article/54/7/677/223532
- Brooks, M. L., Matchett, J. R., Shinneman, D. J., & Coates, P. S. (2015). Fire Patterns in the Range of the Greater Sage-Grouse, 1984 – 2013 — Implications for Conservation and Management: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2015-1167. 66. https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20151167
- Brooks, S. P., & Gelman, A. (1998). General methods for monitoring convergence of iterative simulations)? *Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics*, 7(4), 434–455. https://doi.org/10.1080/10618600.1998.10474787
- Buckley, L. B., Urban, M. C., Angilletta, M. J., Crozier, L. G., Rissler, L. J., & Sears, M.
  W. (2010). Can mechanism inform species' distribution models? *Ecology Letters*, 13(8), 1041–1054. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01479.x
- Carter, V. A., Brunelle, A., Power, M. J., DeRose, R. J., Bekker, M. F., Hart, I., Brewer, S., Spangler, J., Robinson, E., Abbott, M., Maezumi, S. Y., & Codding, B. F. (2021). Legacies of Indigenous land use shaped past wildfire regimes in the Basin-Plateau Region, USA. *Communications Earth & Environment*, 2(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-021-00137-3
- Case, M. J., & Lawler, J. J. (2017). Integrating mechanistic and empirical model projections to assess climate impacts on tree species distributions in northwestern North America. *Global Change Biology*, 23(5), 2005–2015. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13570

- Cattau, M. E., Wessman, C., Mahood, A., & Balch, J. K. (2020). Anthropogenic and lightning-started fires are becoming larger and more frequent over a longer season length in the U.S.A. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 29(4), 668–681. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13058
- Chambers, J. C., Beck, J. L., Bradford, J. B., Bybee, J., Campbell, S., Carlson, J.,
  Christiansen, T. J., Clause, K. J., Collins, G., Crist, M. R., Dinkins, J. B., Doherty,
  K. E., Edwards, F., Espinosa, S., Griffin, K. A., Griffin, P., Haas, J. R., Hanser, S.
  E., Havlina, D. W., ... Wuenschel, A. (2017). Science framework for
  conservation and restoration of the sagebrush biome: Linking the department of
  the interior's integrated rangeland fire management strategy to long-term strategic
  conservation actions. In USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RMRSGTR (Vol. 2017, Issue 360).
- Chambers, J. C., Bradley, B. A., Brown, C. S., D'Antonio, C., Germino, M. J., Grace, J. B., Hardegree, S. P., Miller, R. F., & Pyke, D. A. (2014). Resilience to stress and disturbance, and resistance to Bromus tectorum L. invasion in cold desert shrublands of western North America. *Ecosystems*, 17(2), 360–375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-013-9725-5
- Chambers, J. C., Brooks, M. L., Germino, M. J., Maestas, J. D., Board, D. I., Jones, M. O., & Allred, B. W. (2019). Operationalizing resilience and resistance concepts to address invasive grass-fire cycles. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(JUN), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00185
- Chambers, J. C., Miller, R. F., Board, D. I., Pyke, D. A., Roundy, B. A., Grace, J. B., Schupp, E. W., & Tausch, R. J. (2014). Resilience and Resistance of Sagebrush Ecosystems: Implications for State and Transition Models and Management Treatments. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 67(5), 440–454. https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-13-00074.1
- Coates, P. S., Prochazka, B. G., Ricca, M. A., Gustafson, K. Ben, Ziegler, P., & Casazza, M. L. (2017). Pinyon and juniper encroachment into sagebrush ecosystems impacts distribution and survival of greater sage-grouse. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 70(1), 25–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.09.001

- Coates, P. S., Ricca, M. A., Prochazka, B. G., Brooks, M. L., Doherty, K. E., Kroger, T., Blomberg, J., Hagen, C. A., Casazza, M. L., Coates, P. S., Ricca, M. A., Prochazka, B. G., Brooks, M. L., Doherty, K. E., & Kroger, T. (2016). Wildfire, climate, and invasive grass interactions negatively impact an indicator species by reshaping sagebrush ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *113*(48), 12745–12750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1617905113
- Condon, L., Weisberg, P. J., & Chambers, J. C. (2011). Abiotic and biotic influences on Bromus tectorum invasion and Artemisia tridentata recovery after fire. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 20(4), 597–604. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF09082
- Copeland, S. M., Davies, K. W., Boyd, C. S., & Bates, J. D. (2021). Recovery of the herbaceous component of degraded sagebrush steppe is unimpeded by 75 years of moderate cattle grazing. *Ecosphere*, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3445
- Coultrap, D. E., Fulgham, K. O., Lancaster, D. L., Gustafson, J., Lile, D. F., & George, M. R. (2008). Relationships Between Western Juniper (Juniperus occidentalis) and Understory Vegetation. *Invasive Plant Science and Management*, 1(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1614/ipsm-07-008.1
- Csardi, G., & Nepusz, T. (2006). The igraph software package for complex newtork research. *Computer Science*, *1695*. https://doi.org/10.3724/sp.j.1087.2009.02191
- D'Antonio, C. M., & Vitousek, P. M. (1992). Biological Invasions by Exotic Grasses, the Grass/Fire Cycle, and Global Change. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 23, 63–87.
- Davies, K. W., & Bates, J. D. (2017). Restoring big sagebrush after controlling encroaching western juniper with fire: aspect and subspecies effects. *Restoration Ecology*, 25(1), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12375

- Davies, K. W., & Bates, J. D. (2020). Re-introducing fire in sagebrush steppe experiencing decreased fire frequency: does burning promote spatial and temporal heterogeneity? *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 686–695. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF20018
- Davies, K. W., Leger, E. A., Boyd, C. S., & Hallett, L. M. (2021). Living with exotic annual grasses in the sagebrush ecosystem. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 288(November 2020), 112417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112417
- De Oliveira, V. (2012). Bayesian analysis of conditional autoregressive models. *Annals* of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics, 64(1), 107–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10463-010-0298-1
- Dennison, P. E. ., Brewer, S. C., Arnold, J. D., & Moritz, Max, A. (2014). Large Wildfire Trends in the Western United States, 1984-2011. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 41(April), 6413–6419. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014GL061184.Received
- Djeudeu, D., Moebus, S., & Ickstadt, K. (2022). Multilevel Conditional Autoregressive models for longitudinal and spatially referenced epidemiological data. *Spatial and Spatio-Temporal Epidemiology*, 41(January), 100477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sste.2022.100477
- Elith, J., Kearney, M., & Phillips, S. (2010). The art of modelling range-shifting species. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 1(4), 330–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2010.00036.x
- Elith, J., & Leathwick, J. R. (2009). Species distribution models: Ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40, 677–697.
  https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120159
- Ellsworth, L. M., Kauffman, J. B., Reis, S. A., Sapsis, D., & Moseley, K. (2020).
  Repeated fire altered succession and increased fire behavior in basin big sagebrush–native perennial grasslands. *Ecosphere*, 11(5).
  https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3124

- Ellsworth, L. M., Wrobleski, D. W., Kauffman, J. B., & Reis, S. A. (2016). Ecosystem resilience is evident 17 years after fire in Wyoming big sagebrush ecosystems. *Ecosphere*, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1618
- Falkowski, M. J., Evans, J. S., Naugle, D. E., Hagen, C. A., Carleton, S. A., Maestas, J. D., Khalyani, A. H., Poznanovic, A. J., & Lawrence, A. J. (2017). Mapping tree canopy cover in support of proactive prairie grouse conservation in western North America. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 70(1), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.08.002
- Fick, S. E., Nauman, T. W., Brungard, C. C., & Duniway, M. C. (2022). What determines the effectiveness of Pinyon-Juniper clearing treatments? Evidence from the remote sensing archive and counter-factual scenarios. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 505(November 2021), 119879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2021.119879
- Filippelli, S. K., Falkowski, M. J., Hudak, A. T., Fekety, P. A., Vogeler, J. C., Khalyani, A. H., Rau, B. M., & Strand, E. K. (2020). Monitoring pinyon-juniper cover and aboveground biomass across the Great Basin. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15(2). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab6785
- Fitzpatrick, M. C., & Hargrove, W. W. (2009). The projection of species distribution models and the problem of non-analog climate. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 18(8), 2255–2261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9584-8
- Flake, S. W., & Weisberg, P. J. (2021). Drought alters the understory of pinyon-juniper woodlands indirectly through tree dieback. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 76, 118–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2021.02.007
- Freund, S. M., Newingham, B. A., Chambers, J. C., Urza, A. K., Roundy, B. A., & Cushman, J. H. (2021). Plant functional groups and species contribute to ecological resilience a decade after woodland expansion treatments. *Ecosphere*, *12*(1), e03325. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3325

- Fusco, E. J., Balch, J. K., Mahood, A. L., Nagy, R. C., Syphard, A. D., & Bradley, B. A. (2021). The human–grass–fire cycle: how people and invasives co-occur to drive fire regimes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2432
- Fusco, E. J., Finn, J. T., Balch, J. K., Chelsea Nagy, R., & Bradley, B. A. (2019).
  Invasive grasses increase fire occurrence and frequency across US ecoregions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(47), 23594–23599. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1908253116
- Gelman, A. (2008). Scaling regression inputs by dividing by two standard deviations. Statistics in Medicine, 27(April), 2865–2873. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim
- Germino, M. J., Moser, A. M., & Sands, A. R. (2019). Adaptive variation, including local adaptation, requires decades to become evident in common gardens. *Ecological Applications*, 29(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1842
- Geweke, J. (1992). Evaluating the Accuracy of Sampling-Based Approaches to the Calculation of Posterior Moments. *Bayesian Statistics*, *4*, 1–31.
- Grossiord, C., Buckley, T. N., Cernusak, L. A., Novick, K. A., Poulter, B., Siegwolf, R. T. W., Sperry, J. S., & McDowell, N. G. (2020). Plant responses to rising vapor pressure deficit. *New Phytologist*, 226(6), 1550–1566. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16485
- Guisan, A., Tingley, R., Baumgartner, J. B., Naujokaitis-Lewis, I., Sutcliffe, P. R., Tulloch, A. I. T., Regan, T. J., Brotons, L., Mcdonald-Madden, E., Mantyka-Pringle, C., Martin, T. G., Rhodes, J. R., Maggini, R., Setterfield, S. A., Elith, J., Schwartz, M. W., Wintle, B. A., Broennimann, O., Austin, M., ... Buckley, Y. M. (2013). Predicting species distributions for conservation decisions. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(12), 1424–1435. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12189

- Hughes, T. P., Kerry, J. T., Connolly, S. R., Baird, A. H., Eakin, C. M., Heron, S. F., Hoey, A. S., Hoogenboom, M. O., Jacobson, M., Liu, G., Pratchett, M. S., Skirving, W., & Torda, G. (2019). Ecological memory modifies the cumulative impact of recurrent climate extremes. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(1), 40–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0351-2
- Iglesias, V., Balch, J. K., & Travis, W. R. (2022). U. S. fires became larger, more frequent, and more widespread in the 2000s. *Science Advances*, 8(11), 1–11.
- Johnstone, J. F., Allen, C. D., Franklin, J. F., Frelich, L. E., Harvey, B. J., Higuera, P. E., Mack, M. C., Meentemeyer, R. K., Metz, M. R., Perry, G. L. W., Schoennagel, T., & Turner, M. G. (2016). Changing disturbance regimes, ecological memory, and forest resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14(7), 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1311
- Jones, G. M., & Tingley, M. W. (2022). Pyrodiversity and biodiversity: A history, synthesis, and outlook. *Diversity and Distributions*, 28(3), 386–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13280
- Kelly, L. T., Giljohann, K. M., Duane, A., Aquilué, N., Archibald, S., Batllori, E., Bennett, A. F., Buckland, S. T., Canelles, Q., Clarke, M. F., Fortin, M. J., Hermoso, V., Herrando, S., Keane, R. E., Lake, F. K., McCarthy, M. A., Morán-Ordóñez, A., Parr, C. L., Pausas, J. G., ... Brotons, L. (2020). Fire and biodiversity in the Anthropocene. *Science*, *370*(6519). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb0355
- Kleinhesselink, A. R., & Adler, P. B. (2018). The response of big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) to interannual climate variation changes across its range. *Ecology*, 99(5), 1139–1149. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2191
- Kolb, K. J., & Sperry, J. S. (1999). Differences in Drought Adaptation between Subspecies of Sagebrush (Artemisia Tridentata). *Ecology*, 80(7), 2373–2384.

- Kruschke, J. K., & Liddell, T. M. (2018). The Bayesian New Statistics: Hypothesis testing, estimation, meta-analysis, and power analysis from a Bayesian perspective. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, 25(1), 178–206. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-016-1221-4
- LANDFIRE (2016). Public LANDFIRE Reference Database, LANDFIRE 2016 Remap (LF 2.0.0), U.S. Department of the Interior, Geological Survey, and U.S. Department of Agriculture. Accessed 15 May 2022 at <u>https://landfire.gov/lfrdb.php</u>.
- Lazarus, B. E., Germino, M. J., & Richardson, B. A. (2019). Freezing resistance, safety margins, and survival vary among big sagebrush populations across the western United States. *American Journal of Botany*, 106(7), 922–934. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajb2.1320
- Leathwick, J. R. (2002). Intra-generic competition among Nothofagus in New Zealand's primary indigenous forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 11(12), 2177–2187. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021394628607
- Lee, D. (2016). CARBayes version 5.2: An R Package for Spatial Areal Unit Modelling with Conditional Autoregressive Priors. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 55(February), 32.
- Lee, D., Rushworth, A., & Sahu, S. K. (2014). A Bayesian localized conditional autoregressive model for estimating the health effects of air pollution. *Biometrics*, 70(2), 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/biom.12156
- Leroux, B. G., Lei, X., & Breslow, N. (2000). Estimation of Disease Rates in Small Areas: A new Mixed Model for Spatial Dependence (pp. 179–191). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-1284-3\_4
- Lewis, O. T. (2006). Climate change, species-area curves and the extinction crisis. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 361(1465), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2005.1712

- Littlefield, C. E., Dobrowski, S. Z., Abatzoglou, J. T., Parks, S. A., & Davis, K. T. (2020). A climatic dipole drives short- And long-term patterns of postfire forest recovery in the western United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 117(47), 29730–29737. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2007434117
- Lubeck, A. A., Metcalf, A. L., Beckman, C. L., Yung, L., & Angle, J. W. (2019). Collective factors drive individual invasive species control behaviors: evidence from private lands in Montana, USA. *Ecology and Society*, 24(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-10897-240232
- Mahood, A. L., & Balch, J. K. (2019). Repeated fires reduce plant diversity in lowelevation Wyoming big sagebrush ecosystems (1984–2014). *Ecosphere*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2591
- Mahood, A. L., Fleishman, E., Balch, J. K., Fogarty, F., Horning, N., Leu, M., Zillig, M., & Bradley, B. A. (2021). Cover-based allometric estimate of aboveground biomass of a non-native, invasive annual grass (Bromus tectorum L.) in the Great Basin, USA. *Journal of Arid Environments*, *193*(June), 104582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2021.104582
- McArthur, E. D., Welch, B. L., & Sanderson, S. C. (1988). Natural and artificial hybridization between big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) subspecies. *Journal of Heredity*, 79(4), 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a110508
- McElreath, R. (2019). *Statistical Rethinking: A Bayesian Course with Examples in R and Stan* (Second). https://doi.org/10.1080/09332480.2017.1302722
- McLauchlan, K. K., Higuera, P. E., Miesel, J., Rogers, B. M., Schweitzer, J., Shuman, J. K., Tepley, A. J., Varner, J. M., Veblen, T. T., Adalsteinsson, S. A., Balch, J. K., Baker, P., Batllori, E., Bigio, E., Brando, P., Cattau, M., Chipman, M. L., Coen, J., Crandall, R., ... Watts, A. C. (2020). Fire as a fundamental ecological process: Research advances and frontiers. *Journal of Ecology*, *108*(5), 2047–2069. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13403

- Meier, E. S., Kienast, F., Pearman, P. B., Svenning, J. C., Thuiller, W., Araújo, M. B., Guisan, A., & Zimmermann, N. E. (2010). Biotic and abiotic variables show little redundancy in explaining tree species distributions. *Ecography*, 33(6), 1038– 1048. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.06229.x
- Meigs, G. W., Dunn, C. J., Parks, S. A., & Krawchuk, M. A. (2020). Influence of topography and fuels on fire refugia probability under varying fire weather conditions in forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 50(7), 636–647. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2019-0406
- Meinke, C. W., Knick, S. T., & Pyke, D. A. (2009). A spatial model to prioritize sagebrush landscapes in the intermountain west (U.S.A.) for restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 17(5), 652–659. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2008.00400.x
- Merow, C., Smith, M. J., Edwards, T. C., Guisan, A., Mcmahon, S. M., Normand, S., Thuiller, W., Wüest, R. O., Zimmermann, N. E., & Elith, J. (2014). What do we gain from simplicity versus complexity in species distribution models? *Ecography*, 37(12), 1267–1281. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.00845
- Miller, J. E. D., & Safford, H. D. (2020). Are plant community responses to wildfire contingent upon historical disturbance regimes? *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 29(10), 1621–1633. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13115
- Miller, R. F., Ratchford, J., Roundy, B. A., Tausch, R. J., Hulet, A., & Chambers, J. (2014). Response of Conifer-Encroached Shrublands in the Great Basin to Prescribed Fire and Mechanical Treatments. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 67(5), 468–481. https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-13-00003.1
- Miller, R. F., & Rose, J. A. (1999). Fire history and western juniper encroachment in sagebrush steppe. *Journal of Range Management*, 52(6), 550–559.
- Miller, R. F., & Tausch, R. J. (2002). The Role of Fire in Juniper and Pinyon Woodlands: A Descriptive Analysis. *Proceedings of the Invasive Species Workshop*, 11, 15– 30. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/252794877

- Miller, R. F., Tausch, R. J., McArthur, E. D., Johnson, D. D., & Sanderson, S. C. (2008). Age structure and expansion of pinyon-juniper woodlands: a regional perspective in the Intermountain West. In *Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Research Paper Report RMRS-RP-69* (Issue January). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2010.08.011.Accelerometry
- Mod, H. K., Chevalier, M., Luoto, M., & Guisan, A. (2020). Scale dependence of ecological assembly rules: Insights from empirical datasets and joint species distribution modelling. *Journal of Ecology*, 108(5), 1967–1977. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13434
- Morris, M., Wheeler-Martin, K., Simpson, D., Mooney, S. J., Gelman, A., & DiMaggio, C. (2019). Bayesian hierarchical spatial models: Implementing the Besag York Mollié model in stan. *Spatial and Spatio-Temporal Epidemiology*, 31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sste.2019.100301
- Nelson, Z. J., Weisberg, P. J., & Kitchen, S. G. (2014). Influence of climate and environment on post-fire recovery of mountain big sagebrush. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 23(1), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF13012
- Newman, E. A., Kennedy, M. C., Falk, D. A., & McKenzie, D. (2019). Scaling and complexity in landscape ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(AUG). https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00293
- Niemiec, R. M., Ardoin, N. M., Brewer, F. K., Kung, S., & Lopez, K. (2018). Increased Neighbor Interaction and Fear of Social Sanctions: Associations with Resident Action to Control the Invasive Little Fire Ant. *Society and Natural Resources*, 31(10), 1149–1168. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2018.1456594
- Novak, S. J., & Mack, R. N. (2001). Tracing plant introduction and spread: Genetic evidence from Bromus tectorum (Cheatgrass). *BioScience*, 51(2), 114–122. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0114:TPIASG]2.0.CO;2

- O'Reilly-Nugent, A., Wandrag, E. M., Catford, J. A., Gruber, B., Driscoll, D., & Duncan, R. P. (2020). Measuring competitive impact: Joint-species modelling of invaded plant communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 108(2), 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13280
- Olsen, A. C., Severson, J. P., Maestas, J. D., Naugle, D. E., Smith, J. T., Tack, J. D., Yates, K. H., & Hagen, C. A. (2021). Reversing tree expansion in sagebrush steppe yields population-level benefit for imperiled grouse. *Ecosphere*, 12(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3551
- Pearson, R. G., & Dawson, T. P. (2003). Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: Are bioclimate envelope models useful? *Global Ecology* and Biogeography, 12(5), 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1466-822X.2003.00042.x
- Peterson, G. D. (2002). Contagious disturbance, ecological memory, and the emergence of landscape pattern. *Ecosystems*, 5(4), 329–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0077-1
- Phillips, S. J., & Dudík, M. (2008). Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: New extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. *Ecography*, 31(2), 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.5203.x
- Pickett, A. S. T. A., Cadenasso, M. L., & Meiners, S. J. (2009). Ever since Clements : From Succession to Vegetation Dynamics and Understanding to Intervention. 12(1), 9–21.
- Pilliod, D. S., Jeffries, M. A., Welty, J. L., & Arkle, R. S. (2021). Protecting restoration investments from the cheatgrass-fire cycle in sagebrush steppe. *Conservation Science and Practice, April*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.508
- Pilliod, D. S., Welty, J. L., & Arkle, R. S. (2017). Refining the cheatgrass–fire cycle in the Great Basin: Precipitation timing and fine fuel composition predict wildfire trends. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(19), 8126–8151. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3414

- Pilliod, D.S., Welty, J.L., and Jeffries, M.I. (2019), USGS Land Treatment Digital Library Data Release: A centralized archive for land treatment tabular and spatial data (ver. 4.0, June 2021): U.S. Geological Survey data release, https://doi.org/10.5066/P98OBOLS.
- Pollock, L. J., Tingley, R., Morris, W. K., Golding, N., O'Hara, R. B., Parris, K. M., Vesk, P. A., & McCarthy, M. A. (2014). Understanding co-occurrence by modelling species simultaneously with a Joint Species Distribution Model (JSDM). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5, 1–7.
- Polson, N. G., & Sokolov, V. (2019). Bayesian regularization: From Tikhonov to horseshoe. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics, 11(4), 1– 16. https://doi.org/10.1002/wics.1463
- Prevéy, J. S., Germino, M. J., Huntly, N. J., & Inouye, R. S. (2010). Exotic plants increase and native plants decrease with loss of foundation species in sagebrush steppe. *Plant Ecology*, 207(1), 39–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-009-9652-x
- Randin, C. F., Ashcroft, M. B., Bolliger, J., Cavender-Bares, J., Coops, N. C., Dullinger, S., Dirnböck, T., Eckert, S., Ellis, E., Fernández, N., Giuliani, G., Guisan, A., Jetz, W., Joost, S., Karger, D., Lembrechts, J., Lenoir, J., Luoto, M., Morin, X., ... Payne, D. (2020). Monitoring biodiversity in the Anthropocene using remote sensing in species distribution models. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 239(December 2018), 111626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111626
- Rao, K., Williams, A. P., Diffenbaugh, N. S., Yebra, M., & Konings, A. G. (2022). Plantwater sensitivity regulates wildfire vulnerability. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, 6(3), 332–339. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-021-01654-2
- Reisner, M. D., Grace, J. B., Pyke, D. A., & Doescher, P. S. (2013). Conditions favouring Bromus tectorum dominance of endangered sagebrush steppe ecosystems. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50(4), 1039–1049. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12097

- Requena-Mullor, J. M., Maguire, K. C., Shinneman, D. J., & Caughlin, T. T. (2019).
  Integrating anthropogenic factors into regional-scale species distribution
  models—A novel application in the imperiled sagebrush biome. *Global Change Biology*, 25(11), 3844–3858. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14728
- Richardson, B. A., Page, J. T., Bajgain, P., Sanderson, S. C., & Udall, J. A. (2012). Deep sequencing of amplicons reveals widespread intraspecific hybridization and multiple origins of polyploidy in big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata; Asteraceae). *American Journal of Botany*, *99*(12), 1962–1975. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1200373
- Rigge, M., Shi, H., Homer, C., Danielson, P., & Granneman, B. (2019). Long-term trajectories of fractional component change in the Northern Great Basin, USA. *Ecosphere*, 10(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2762
- Roberts, D. R., Bahn, V., Ciuti, S., Boyce, M. S., Elith, J., Guillera-Arroita, G.,
  Hauenstein, S., Lahoz-Monfort, J. J., Schröder, B., Thuiller, W., Warton, D. I.,
  Wintle, B. A., Hartig, F., & Dormann, C. F. (2017). Cross-validation strategies for
  data with temporal, spatial, hierarchical, or phylogenetic structure. In *Ecography*(Vol. 40, Issue 8, pp. 913–929). https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.02881
- Romme, W. H., Allen, C. D., Bailey, J. D., Baker, W. L., Bestelmeyer, B. T., Brown, P. M., Eisenhart, K. S., Floyd, M. L., Huffman, D. W., Jacobs, B. F., Miller, R. F., Muldavin, E. H., Swetnam, T. W., Tausch, R. J., & Weisberg, P. J. (2009). Historical and modern disturbance regimes, stand structures, and landscape dynamics in piñon-juniper vegetation of the western united states. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, *62*(3), 203–222. https://doi.org/10.2111/08-188R1.1
- Roundy, B. A., Chambers, J. C., Pyke, D. A., Miller, R. F., Tausch, R. J., Schupp, E. W.,
  Rau, B., & Gruell, T. (2018). Resilience and resistance in sagebrush ecosystems are associated with seasonal soil temperature and water availability. *Ecosphere*, 9(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2417

- Schlaepfer, D. R., Bradford, J. B., Lauenroth, W. K., & Shriver, R. K. (2021). Understanding the future of big sagebrush regeneration: challenges of projecting complex ecological processes. *Ecosphere*, 12(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3695
- Schlaepfer, D. R., Lauenroth, W. K., & Bradford, J. B. (2012). Effects of ecohydrological variables on current and future ranges, local suitability patterns, and model accuracy in big sagebrush. *Ecography*, 35(4), 374–384. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2011.06928.x
- Schliep, E. M., Lany, N. K., Zarnetske, P. L., Schaeffer, R. N., Orians, C. M., Orwig, D. A., & Preisser, E. L. (2018). Joint species distribution modelling for spatio-temporal occurrence and ordinal abundance data. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 27(1), 142–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12666
- Schroeder, V. M., Johnson, D. D., O'Connor, R. C., Crouch, C. G., Dragt, W. J., Quicke, H. E., Silva, L. F., & Wood, D. J. (2022). Managing invasive annual grasses, annually: A case for more case studies. *Rangelands*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rala.2022.01.002
- Schwager, P., & Berg, C. (2021). Remote sensing variables improve species distribution models for alpine plant species. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 54, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2021.04.002
- Scotland, J. (2012). Exploring the philosophical underpinnings of research: Relating ontology and epistemology to the methodology and methods of the scientific, interpretive, and critical research paradigms. *English Language Teaching*, 5(9), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v5n9p9
- Secules, S., McCall, C., Mejia, J. A., Beebe, C., Masters, A. S., L. Sánchez-Peña, M., & Svyantek, M. (2021). Positionality practices and dimensions of impact on equity research: A collaborative inquiry and call to the community. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *110*(1), 19–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20377

- Shinneman, D. J., & Baker, W. L. (2009a). Environmental and climatic variables as potential drivers of post-fire cover of cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) in seeded and unseeded semiarid ecosystems. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 18(2), 191–202. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07043
- Shinneman, D. J., & Baker, W. L. (2009b). Historical Fire and Multidecadal Drought as Context for Piñon — Juniper Woodland Restoration in Western Colorado. *Ecological Applications*, 19(5), 1231–1245. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40347265
- Shinneman, D. J., & McIlroy, S. K. (2016). Identifying key climate and environmental factors affecting rates of post-fire big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) recovery in the northern Columbia Basin, USA. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 25(9), 933–945. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF16013
- Sinclair, S. J., White, M. D., & Newell, G. R. (2010). How useful are species distribution models for managing biodiversity under future climates? *Ecology and Society*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03089-150108
- Stevens, J. T., Kling, M. M., Schwilk, D. W., Varner, J. M., & Kane, J. M. (2020). Biogeography of fire regimes in western U.S. conifer forests: A trait-based approach. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 29(5), 944–955. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13079
- Still, S. M., & Richardson, B. A. (2015). Projections of contemporary and future climate niche for wyoming big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata subsp. wyomingensis): A guide for restoration. *Natural Areas Journal*, 35(1), 30–43. https://doi.org/10.3375/043.035.0106
- Terry, R. G. (2010). Re-evaluation of morphological and chloroplast DNA variation in Juniperus osteosperma Hook and Juniperus occidentalis Torr. Little (Cupressaceae) and their putative hybrids. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 38(3), 349–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bse.2010.03.001

- Terry, R. G., Nowak, R. S., & Tausch, R. J. (2000). Genetic variation in chloroplast and nuclear ribosomal DNA in Utah juniper (Juniperus osteosperma, Cupressaceae): Evidence for interspecific gene flow. *American Journal of Botany*, 87(2), 250– 258. https://doi.org/10.2307/2656913
- Urban, M. C. (2020). Climate-tracking species are not invasive. *Nature Climate Change*, *10*(5), 380–382. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0761-9
- Urban, M. C., Bocedi, G., Hendry, A. P., Mihoub, J. B., Pe'er, G., Singer, A., Bridle, J. R., Crozier, L. G., De Meester, L., Godsoe, W., Gonzalez, A., Hellmann, J. J., Holt, R. D., Huth, A., Johst, K., Krug, C. B., Leadley, P. W., Palmer, S. C. F., Pantel, J. H., ... Travis, J. M. J. (2016). Improving the forecast for biodiversity under climate change. *Science*, *353*(6304). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8466
- van Mantgem, P. J., Falk, D. A., Williams, E. C., Das, A. J., & Stephenson, N. L. (2018).
  Pre-fire drought and competition mediate post-fire conifer mortality in western
  U.S. National Parks. *Ecological Applications*, 28(7), 1730–1739.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1778
- Waltari, E., Schroeder, R., Mcdonald, K., Anderson, R. P., & Carnaval, A. (2014).
  Bioclimatic variables derived from remote sensing: Assessment and application for species distribution modelling. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(10), 1033–1042. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12264
- Weisberg, P. J., Lingua, E., & Pillai, R. B. (2007). Spatial Patterns of Pinyon Juniper Woodland Expansion in Central Nevada Published By : Society for Range Management Spatial Patterns of Pinyon – Juniper Woodland Expansion in Central Nevada. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 60(2), 115–124.
- West, A. M., Evangelista, P. H., Jarnevich, C. S., Young, N. E., Stohlgren, T. J., Talbert, C., Talbert, M., Morisette, J., & Anderson, R. (2016). Integrating remote sensing with species distribution models; mapping tamarisk invasions using the software for assisted habitat modeling (SAHM). *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2016(116), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3791/54578

- Westerling, A. L., Hidalgo, H. G., Cayan, D. R., & Swetnam, T. W. (2006). Warming and earlier spring increase Western U.S. forest wildfire activity. *Science*, 313(5789), 940–943. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1128834
- Whisenant, S. G. (1990). Changing fire frequencies on Idaho's Snake River Plains: ecological and management implications. *General Technical Report - US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, INT-276*, 4–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(92)90659-b
- Wilkinson, C.F. (1992). "Chapter 3: The Rancher's Code" in Crossing the Next Meridian: Land, Water, and the Future of the West. Island Press (Washington, D.C.).
- Williams, A. P., Abatzoglou, J. T., Gershunov, A., Guzman-Morales, J., Bishop, D. A., Balch, J. K., & Lettenmaier, D. P. (2019). Observed Impacts of Anthropogenic Climate Change on Wildfire in California. *Earth's Future*, 7(8), 892–910. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001210
- Williams, C. J., Pierson, F. B., Al-Hamdan, O. Z., Kormos, P. R., Hardegree, S. P., & Clark, P. E. (2014). Can wildfire serve as an ecohydrologic threshold-reversal mechanism on juniper-encroached shrublands. *Ecohydrology*, 7(2), 453–477. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.1364
- Williamson, M. A., Fleishman, E., Mac Nally, R. C., Chambers, J. C., Bradley, B. A., Dobkin, D. S., Board, D. I., Fogarty, F. A., Horning, N., Leu, M., & Wohlfeil Zillig, M. (2020). Fire, livestock grazing, topography, and precipitation affect occurrence and prevalence of cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) in the central Great Basin, USA. *Biological Invasions*, 22(2), 663–680. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-019-02120-8
- Zimmer, S., Grosklos, G., Belmont, P., & Adler, P. (2020). Agreement and uncertainty among climate change impact models: A synthesis of sagebrush steppe vegetation projections. *Rangeland Ecology & Comp. Management*, 75, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.16.154989

Zurell, D., Jeltsch, F., Dormann, C. F., & Schröder, B. (2009). Static species distribution models in dynamically changing systems: How good can predictions really be? *Ecography*, 32(5), 733–744. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2009.05810.x

## APPENDIX A

# Supplemental Information

### Historical Wildfire Trajectories in the NGB



Figure A.1.1. Historical trend of maximum fire size in the NGB. The biggest fires have gotten bigger since the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, indicating that extreme fires are becoming increasingly extreme.



Figure A.1.1. Historical trend of mean fire size in the NGB. Average fire size has increased in the NGB since the start of the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

## Fire Characteristics by Species



Figure A.2.1. Number of species presence points collected by year in the NGB between 1974 (the first year of LFRDB point collection in the NGB) to 2009 (the most recent collection year in the NGB for species of interest).



Figure A.2.2. Number of historical fires that occurred at each species presence point between 1912 and 2009 in the NGB.



Figure A.2.3. Proportion of each species presence points that experienced at least one fire prior to LFRDB observation.



Group and Individual Species Means and Errors for Elevation and Exposure

Figure A.3.1. Individual presence point values and group means for elevation (in meters) and site exposure for sagebrush and juniper, respectively broken into subspecies and species.



Figure A.3.2. Individual presence point values and group means for elevation (in meters) and site exposure for sagebrush and juniper.







Figure A.3.4. Group site exposure index means and standard errors for all sagebrush subspecies and juniper species points in the NGB.

Adjacency Matrix Network Maps



Map A.1.1. Network of neighboring grazing allotments used to determine values for adjacency matrix in full CAR models (for burned and unburned areas). Spatial network construction relied on the R packages "sdpep" (Bivand & Wong, 2018), "igraph" (Csardi & Nepusz, 2006), and "spatialreg" (Bivand et al., 2013).


Map A.1.2. Network of neighboring grazing allotments used to determine values for adjacency matrix in fire-only CAR models. Spatial network construction relied on the R packages "sdpep" (Bivand & Wong, 2018), "igraph" (Csardi & Nepusz, 2006), and "spatialreg" (Bivand et al., 2013).



Conditional effects plots for full CAR models



## Rho Density Plots-Fire-Only Models



Figure A.5. Density plots of rho values from the posterior of the fire-only CAR SDM for each species of interest. Rho values account for spatial dependency, with higher values indicating more spatial dependency of species across neighboring allotments.

## APPENDIX B

## Supplemental Maps



Species presence and absence points in areas in the NGB with historical fire

Map B.1.1. Figure B.1.3. Species presence and absence points for full sagebrush CAR model in the context of all NGB historical wildfires between 1912 and 2009. Orange polygons indicate wildfire boundaries. Data: EPA, USGS, LFRDB, Stamen.



Map B.1.2. Species presence and absence points for full juniper CAR model in the context of all NGB historical wildfires between 1912 and 2009. Orange polygons indicate wildfire boundaries. Data: EPA, USGS, LFRDB, Stamen.



Map B.1.3. Species presence and absence points for full cheatgrass CAR model in the context of all NGB historical wildfires between 1912 and 2009. Orange polygons indicate wildfire boundaries. Data: EPA, USGS, LFRDB, Stamen.



Species presence and absence points in previously treated parts of the NGB

Map B.2.1. Species presence and absence points for full sagebrush CAR model in the context of restoration treatments conducted in the NGB prior to 2009. Purple polygons indicate restoration areas. Data: EPA, LTDL, LFRDB, Stamen.



Map B.2.2. Species presence and absence points for full juniper CAR model in the context of all restoration treatments conducted in the NGB prior to 2009. Purple polygons indicate restoration areas. Data: EPA, LTDL, LFRDB, Stamen.



Map B.2.3. Species presence and absence points for cheatgrass CAR model in the context of all restoration treatments conducted in the NGB prior to 2009. Purple polygons indicate restoration areas. Data: EPA, LTDL, LFRDB, Stamen.